

Melrose Park High School

Archaeological Report

Final Report Prepared for Department of Education

31 January 2025

Biosis offices

New South Wales

Albury Phone: (02) 6069 9200 Email: <u>albury@biosis.com.au</u>

Gosford

Phone: (02) 9101 8700 Email: gosford@biosis.com.au

Newcastle

Phone: (02) 4911 4040 Email: <u>newcastle@biosis.com.au</u>

Sydney

Phone: (02) 9101 8700 Email: <u>sydney@biosis.com.au</u>

Western Sydney

Phone: (02) 9101 8700 Email: <u>sydney@biosis.com.au</u>

Wollongong

Phone: (02) 4201 1090 Email: <u>wollongong@biosis.com.au</u>

Victoria

Ballarat

Phone: (03) 5304 4250 Email: <u>ballarat@biosis.com.au</u>

Melbourne

Phone: (03) 8686 4800 Email: <u>melbourne@biosis.com.au</u>

Wangaratta

Phone: (03) 5718 6900 Email: <u>wangaratta@biosis.com.au</u>

Document information

Report to:	Department of Education
Prepared by:	Bronte Baonza
Biosis project no.:	40105
File name:	40105.Melrose.Park.HS.AR.FIN01.20250131
Citation:	Biosis 2025. Melrose Park High School. Archaeological Report. Prepared for Department of Education. Author: Baonza. B, Biosis Pty Ltd, Sydney, NSW. Project no. 40105
LGA	City of Parramatta
-	

Document control

Version	Internal reviewer	Date issued
Draft version 01	Anthea Vella	12/11/2024
Draft version 02	Anthea Vella	20/11/2024
Draft version 03	Samantha Keats	9/12/2024
Final version 01	Anthea Vella	31/01/2025

Acknowledgements

Biosis acknowledges the contribution of the following people and organisations in undertaking this study:

- Colliers International: Joshua DeAngelis and Nathan Martin
- Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council: Jordan Mahi
- Registered Aboriginal Parties

Biosis staff involved in this project were:

- Ashley Bridge (assistance in the field)
- Azka Abid (mapping)

Biosis acknowledges the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples as Traditional Custodians of the land on which we live and work.

We pay our respects to the Traditional Custodians and Elders past and present and honour their connection to Country and ongoing contribution to society.

© Biosis Pty Ltd

This document is subject to copyright and may only be used for the purposes in respect of which it was commissioned and in accordance with the Terms of Engagement of the commission. Unauthorised use of this document in any form whatsoever is prohibited.

Disclaimer:

Biosis Pty Ltd has completed this assessment in accordance with the relevant federal, state and local legislation and current industry best practice. The company accepts no liability for any damages or loss incurred as a result of reliance placed upon the report content or for any purpose other than that for which it was intended.





Summary

Biosis Pty Ltd (Biosis) was commissioned by Department of Education (DoE) to undertake an Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment (ACHA) for the proposed Melrose Park High School at 37 Hope Street, Melrose Park, NSW (Lot 201 DP1265603) (the study area). This Archaeological Report (AR) documents the findings of the archaeological investigations conducted as part of the ACHA. As required under Section 2.3 of *The Code of Practice for Archaeological Investigation of Aboriginal Objects in NSW* (DECCW 2010b) (the Code), the AR provides evidence about the material traces of Aboriginal land use to support the conclusions and management recommendations in the ACHA.

The study area is located approximately 8 kilometres east of Parramatta and approximately 14.3 kilometres northwest of the Sydney Central Business District (CBD). The project is being assessed as a Review of Environmental Factors under Part 5 of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979* (EP&A Act).

Biosis completed a Preliminary Indigenous Heritage Assessment and Impact Report (PIHAI) for the study area in June 2024. Further assessment was required in the form of an ACHA to undertake Aboriginal community consultation.

There are no Aboriginal cultural heritage sites registered with the Aboriginal Heritage Information Management System (AHIMS) register, (Client Service ID: 905888, search date 1 July 2024).

A survey for the PIHAI was conducted on 29 March 2024, with an updated survey for the ACHA conducted on 6 November 2024. The overall effectiveness of the survey for examining the ground for Aboriginal sites was deemed low. This was attributed to the high levels of disturbances combined with low levels of genuine exposures. Jordan Mahi from the Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council (LALC) noted that there was no cultural importance in the study area.

No previously unrecorded Aboriginal cultural heritage sites were identified during the field investigation.

No areas of archaeological potential were identified.

Subject to implementing the recommendations set out in Section 7 and mitigation measures in Section 6.3 of this report, the conclusion is that the proposed activity is not likely to significantly affect the environment in relation to Aboriginal heritage.

Strategies have been developed based on the archaeological significance of cultural heritage relevant to the study area. The strategies also take into consideration:

- Predicted impacts to Aboriginal cultural heritage.
- The planning approvals framework.
- Current best conservation practice, widely considered to include:
 - The ethos of the Australia International Council on Monuments and Sites (ICOMOS) Burra Charter.
 - the Code.

The recommendations that resulted from the consultation process are provided below.



Management recommendations

Prior to any development impacts occurring within the study area, the following is recommended.

Recommendation 1: No further assessment required; works may proceed with caution

No Aboriginal sites, objects or areas of archaeological potential were identified as part of this assessment. Therefore, the works may proceed with caution. This recommendation is conditional upon Recommendation 2 to 4.

Recommendation 2: Consultation with the registered Aboriginal stakeholders

As per the consultation requirements, a copy of the final ACHA should be provided to Registered Aboriginal Parties (RAPs) for their records. Should any sites be identified during the remainder of this assessment or during the proposed works, the proponent should continue to inform these groups about the management of Aboriginal cultural heritage sites within the study area throughout the life of the project.

Recommendation 3: Discovery of unanticipated Aboriginal objects

All Aboriginal objects and Places are protected under the *National Parks Wildlife Act 1974* (NPW Act). It is an offence to knowingly disturb an Aboriginal site without a consent permit issued by NSW Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water (NSW DCCEEW), Heritage NSW (Heritage NSW). Should any Aboriginal objects be encountered during works associated with this proposal, works must cease in the vicinity and the find should not be moved until assessed by a qualified archaeologist. If the find is determined to be an Aboriginal object, the archaeologist will provide further recommendations. These may include notifying Heritage NSW and Aboriginal stakeholders.

Recommendation 4: Discovery of human remains

Human remains may be found in a variety of landscapes in NSW, including middens and sandy or soft sedimentary soils. If any suspected human remains are discovered during any activity, you must:

- 1. Immediately cease all work at that location and not further move or disturb the remains.
- 2. Notify the NSW Police and Heritage NSW' Environmental Line on 131 555 as soon as practicable and provide details of the remains and their location.
- 3. Not recommence work at that location unless authorised in writing by Heritage NSW.



Contents

Sumr	nary		ii
	Mana	gement recommendations	iii
Conte	ents		iv
Gloss	ary		vii
1	Intro	duction and Declaration	1
	1.1	Project background	1
	1.2	Study area	1
	1.3	Planning approvals	1
	1.4	Objectives of the investigation	2
	1.5	Investigators and contributors	2
2	Prop	osed development	6
3	Desk	top assessment	8
	3.1	Landscape context	8
		3.1.1 Geology, topography and hydrology	
		3.1.2 Soil landscapes	
		3.1.3 Landscape resources3.1.4 Land use history	
	3.2	Previous archaeological work	
	5.2	3.2.1 Regional overview	
		3.2.2 Local overview	
		3.2.3 AHIMS site analysis	.24
	3.3	Discussion	.26
		3.3.1 Predictive statements	.26
4	Archa	aeological survey	.29
	4.1	Archaeological survey objectives	.29
	4.2	Archaeological survey methodology	.29
		4.2.1 Survey methods	.29
	4.3	Constraints to the survey	.30
	4.4	Visibility	. 30
	4.5	Exposure	.31
	4.6	Disturbances	.33
	4.7	Archaeological survey results	.35
	4.8	Discussion of archaeological survey results	.35
5	Scien	tific values and significance assessment	.39
	5.1	Introduction to the assessment process	.39
	5.2	Archaeological (scientific significance) values	.40
		5.2.1 Statements of archaeological significance	.42



6	Imp	act assessment	43
	6.1	Predicted physical impacts	43
	6.2	Ecologically Sustainable Development	43
	6.3	Management and mitigation measures	44
		6.3.1 No further archaeological work required; works may proceed with caution6.3.2 Continued consultation with the registered Aboriginal stakeholders	
7	Reco	ommendations	46
Refe	rence	S	47
Арре	endice	25	50
Appe	endix	1 AHIMS results	51

Tables

Table 1	Investigators and contributors	3
Table 2	Lucas Heights soil landscape characteristics (Chapman et al. 1989, pp. 27–28)	12
Table 3	AHIMS site type frequency	24
Table 4	Aboriginal site prediction statements	27
Table 5	Survey coverage	
Table 6	Landform summary	35
Table 7	Site contents ratings used for archaeological sites	41
Table 8	Site condition ratings used for archaeological sites	41
Table 9	Site representativeness ratings used for archaeological sites	42
Table 10	Scientific significance ratings used for archaeological sites	42

Figures

Figure 1	Location of the study area	4
Figure 2	Study area detail	5
Figure 3	Proposed works	7
Figure 4	Geological units in the vicinity of the study area	10
Figure 5	Hydrology and topography in the vicinity of the study area	11
Figure 6	Soil landscapes in the vicinity of the study area	13
Figure 7	AHIMS search results	25
Figure 8	Survey results and coverage	37
Figure 9	Landforms	38
Figure 10	Impact assessment	45

Photographs

Photo 1	Diagram showing Strahler stream order (Ritter et al. 1995, p. 151)	9
Photo 2	Schematic diagram of the Lucas Heights soil landscape (Chapman et al. 1989, pp. 27–28)	12
Photo 3	1943 aerial image with the study area outlined in red (Source: NSW Spatial Services 2023)	15
Photo 4	1965 aerial image with the study area outlined in red (Source: NSW Spatial Services 2023)	16



Photo 5	1986 aerial image with the study area outlined in red (Source: NSW Spatial Services 2023)	17
Photo 6	1994 aerial image with the study area outlined in red (Source: NSW Spatial Services 2023)	18
Photo 7	GSV (0%) along eastern boundary of the study area displaying grass cover and undulating landform, facing east (PIHAI survey)	30
Photo 8	GSV (0%) in the southern portion of the study area, displaying the gravel covering the study area, facing south (PIHAI survey)	30
Photo 9	GSV (0%) within the northern portion of the study area, depicting regrowth and grass coverage, facing north (PIHAI survey)	31
Photo 10	GSV (90%) within the central portion of the study area, facing south (Updated survey)	31
Photo 11	Area of exposure (10%) around car tracks, located in the southern portion of the study area, facing south	32
Photo 12	Area of exposure (10%) near demolished area and car tracks, located in the northern portion of the study area, facing west	32
Photo 13	Area of exposure (10%) surrounded by regrowth and stone piles located within the central portion of the study area, facing north	32
Photo 14	Area of exposure (100%) due to vehicle tracks and land clearing in the northern portion of the study area, facing south	33
Photo 15	Previous drainage located in the eastern portion of the study area, facing east	34
Photo 16	Brick left from previous works in the southern portion of the study area, facing north	34
Photo 17	Remnants of previous works located in the north-eastern portion of the study area, facing south	34
Photo 18	Remnants of previous works located in the southern portion of the study area, facing south-east	35



Glossary

ACHA	Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment
ADDA	Aboriginal Due Diligence Assessment
AHCP	Aboriginal History and Connections Program
AHIMS	Aboriginal Heritage Information Management System
AR	Archaeological Report
BP	Before Present
Biosis	Biosis Pty Ltd
COLA	Covered outdoor learning area
Consultation requirements	Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Consultation Requirements for Proponents 2010
Cth DCCEEW	Australian Commonwealth Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water
DoE	Department of Education
DP	Deposited Plan
DCCEEW	NSW Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water
EP&A Act	Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979
ESD	Ecologically Sustainable Development
GLS	General Learning Spaces
GPS	Global Positioning System
GSV	Ground Surface Visibility
Heritage NSW	Heritage NSW, NSW Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water
ICOMOS	International Council on Monuments and Sites
LALC	Local Aboriginal Land Council
LEP	Local Environmental Plan
JMCHM	Jo McDonald Cultural Heritage Management
LGA	Local Government Area
NPW Act	National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974
NPWS	National Parks and Wildlife Service
NSW	New South Wales
NTSCORP	Native Title Services Corporation
PAD	Potential Archaeological Deposit
PIHAI	Preliminary Indigenous Heritage Assessment and Impact Report
RAP	Registered Aboriginal Party
REF	Review of Environmental Factors
SEPP	State Environmental Planning Policy
SINSW	State Infrastructure NSW



Study area	Defined as the corner of Wharf Road and Hope Street, Melrose Park (Lot 201 DP 1265603)
the Code	Code of Practice for Archaeological Investigation of Aboriginal Objects in NSW



1 Introduction and Declaration

1.1 Project background

This AR has been prepared by Biosis on behalf of the Department of Education (DoE) to assess the potential environmental impacts that could arise from the construction and use of the new Melrose Park High School project (the activity) at 37 Hope Street, Melrose Park (Lot 201 DP1265603 (study area) (Figure 1 and Figure 2). This AR documents the findings of the archaeological investigations conducted as part of the ACHA. The AR provides evidence about the material traces of Aboriginal land use to support the conclusions and management recommendations in the ACHA.

The future development of the site will involve ground disturbing works that will have the potential to impact known and unknown Aboriginal heritage constraints that may be present within the study area. The project is to be assessed as an REF under Part 5 of the EP&A Act.

This investigation has been carried out under Part 6 of the NPW Act and in accordance with the Code. The Code has been developed to support the process of investigating and assessing Aboriginal cultural heritage by specifying the minimum standards for archaeological investigation undertaken in NSW under the NPW Act.

1.2 Study area

The site is located at 37 Hope Street, Melrose Park within the Parramatta Local Government Area (LGA). The school covers an approximate area 9,500m² and is generally rectangular in shape. The site is currently clear and vacant. The study area is located approximately 8 kilometres east of Paramatta and approximately 14.3 kilometres northwest of the Sydney CBD (Figure 1). It encompasses 1.38 hectares of private land and the adjacent road reserves. The study area is located within Lot 201 DP 1265603, and is bounded by Hope Street to the south, Wharf Road to the east, Lot 11 DP 787611 to the north Lot 6 DP 232929 and Lot F DP 376231 to the west.

The study area is within the:

- City of Parramatta LGA.
- Parish of Field of Mars.
- County of Cumberland.

1.3 Planning approvals

The proposed development will be assessed against Part 5 of the EP&A Act. Other relevant legislation and planning instruments that will inform the assessment include:

- NPW Act.
- National Parks and Wildlife Amendment Act 2010 (NSW).
- State Environmental Planning Policy (Transport and Infrastructure) 2021.
- State Environmental Planning Policy (Industry and Employment) 2021.
- Parramatta Local Environmental Plan 2023.



• Parramatta Development Control Plan 2023.

1.4 Objectives of the investigation

The objectives of the investigation can be summarised as follows:

- To identify and consult with any registered Aboriginal stakeholders and the Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council (LALC).
- To conduct additional background research in order to recognise any identifiable trends in site distribution and location.
- To search statutory and non-statutory registers and planning instruments to identify listed Aboriginal cultural heritage sites within the study area.
- To highlight environmental information considered relevant to past Aboriginal occupation of the locality and associated land use and the identification and integrity/preservation of Aboriginal sites.
- To summarise past Aboriginal occupation in the locality of the study area using ethnohistory and the archaeological record.
- To formulate a model to broadly predict the type and character of Aboriginal sites likely to exist throughout the study area, their location, frequency and integrity.
- To conduct a field survey of the study area to locate unrecorded or previously recorded Aboriginal sites and to further assess the archaeological potential of the study area.
- To assess the significance of any known Aboriginal sites in consultation with the Aboriginal community.
- To identify the impacts of the proposed development on any known or potential Aboriginal sites within the study area.
- To recommend strategies for the management of Aboriginal cultural heritage within the context of the proposed development.

1.5 Investigators and contributors

The roles, previous experience and qualifications of the Biosis project team involved in the preparation of this archaeological report are described below in Table 1.



Table 1 Investigators and contributors

Name and qualifications	Experience summary	Project role
Anthea Vella B.Arch M.AHM	Anthea is one of the Team Leaders and is a Senior Heritage Consultant. She has over six years of experience in the consulting industry. Anthea has also managed and completed a range of Aboriginal cultural heritage and historical heritage projects across NSW. Anthea's key areas of expertise include project management, background research, Aboriginal community consultation, field survey, test excavations, salvage excavations, management plans, artefact analysis, archival recording, archaeological report writing, and providing heritage advice in the Sydney, Central Coast and Hunter, Illawarra regions, and regional NSW. Anthea is also accomplished in obtaining approvals under the NSW NPW Act.	Quality Assurance
Molly Crissell B.Arch	Molly is a Heritage Consultant with five years of experience. She has experience in Aboriginal community consultation, artefact analysis, background research, field surveys, project management, technical report writing and test and salvage excavations throughout Sydney, Central Coast, Hunter, Illawarra regions and regional NSW. During her time with Biosis, Molly has project managed Aboriginal Due Diligence Assessments, Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessments, Heritage Inductions and assisted with Statement of Heritage Impact reports.	Project Management
Ashley Bridge BA MArchSci (Adv) (Hons)	Ashley is a Senior Heritage Consultant with six years' experience. She has experience in conducting Aboriginal and historical heritage assessments, surveys and archaeological test excavations for a variety of projects throughout NSW, particularly in the Sydney region. Ashley possesses specialist skills in the identification of human remains, while also having experience in zooarcheological analysis. She also has experience in project management for a number of Aboriginal heritage projects, including text excavations, throughout Sydney and Western Sydney.	• Field investigation
Bronte Baonza BA	Bronte is a Heritage Consultant with two years of experience. Bronte has experience in project management, Aboriginal community consultation, background research, report writing, artefact analysis, field surveys, and test and salvage excavations throughout the Sydney, Newcastle, Albury and Illawarra regions.	 Background research Report writing Aboriginal consultation







2 Proposed development

The proposed activity involves the construction and use of a new high school in two stages for approximately 1,000 students. Stage 1 of the proposed activity includes the following:

- Site preparation works.
- Construction of Block A a six-storey (with additional roof/plant level) school building in the southwestern portion of the site containing staff rooms and General Learning Spaces (GLS).
- Construction of Block B a one storey (double height) hall, gymnasium, canteen and covered outdoor learning area (COLA) building in the south-eastern portion of the site.
- Construction of Block C a single storey plant and storage building at the north-eastern portion of the site.
- Associated landscaping.
- Construction of on-site car parking.
- Provision and augmentation of services infrastructure.
- Associated public domain infrastructure works to support the school, including (but not limited to):
 - Provision of kiss and drop facilities along Wharf Road and widening of the Wharf Road footpath.
 - Raised pedestrian crossings on Wharf Road and Hope Street (Figure 3).

Stage 2 of the proposed activity includes the following:

- Construction of Building D a five-storey (with additional roof/plant level) school building in the north-western portion of the site containing staff rooms and GLS:
 - Additional open play spaces within the terrace areas of Building D.
 - Minor layout amendments to Block A.





3 Desktop assessment

The desktop assessment involves researching and reviewing existing archaeological studies and reports relevant to the study area and surrounding region. This information is combined to develop an Aboriginal site prediction model for the study area, and to identify known Aboriginal sites and/or places recorded in the study area. This desktop assessment has been prepared in accordance with Requirements 1 to 4 of the Code.

3.1 Landscape context

It is important to consider the local environment of the study area any heritage assessment. The local environmental characteristics can influence human occupation and associated land use and consequently the distribution and character of cultural material. Environmental characteristics and geomorphological processes can affect the preservation of cultural heritage materials to varying degrees or even destroy them completely. Lastly, landscape features can contribute to the cultural significance that places can have for people.

3.1.1 Geology, topography and hydrology

The study area is in an urban environment that has been developed for industrial use within the Cumberland Plain, falling between the Hornsby Plateau to the north and the Woronora Plateau to the south. The Cumberland Plain consists of low lying, gently undulating plains and low hills comprised of Wianamatta Group shales and sandstones, with a dense drainage net of predominantly northward flowing channels (Bannerman & Hazelton 1990, p. 2). The study area is situated entirely within the Hawkesbury Sandstone formation (Figure 4). It consists of friable medium- to coarse-grained quartz sandstone with some shale and laminate lenses. It weathers cavernously to form overhangs, which occur in a range of topographic locations. It also occurs as flat topped outcrops (platforms of varying sizes) and boulders, mainly on ridge tops, and also along the sides of gullies and in valley bottoms (JMCHM 2008). This geological unit is commonly associated with grinding groove sites, rock shelters and rock art sites. The Hawkesbury Sandstone has a local relief of 40 to 200 metres, with slope gradients between 20 and 70% and rock outcrops appearing in up to 50% of the surface landscape (DPIE 2020). Due to the level of modification within the study area, such features associated with these site types are likely to have been destroyed, should they have been present.

Distance to water has been used extensively within archaeological investigations to predict potential sites of Aboriginal occupation for several decades. Strahler order is recognised as a factor which assists in the development of predictive modelling in Aboriginal archaeology. Predictive models which have been developed for the region tend to favour higher order streams as having a high potential for campsites. The higher the Strahler order of a stream the more likely it is to provide a stable source of water and by extension, other resources which would have been used by Aboriginal groups.

The stream order system used for this assessment was originally developed by Strahler (1952). It functions by adding two streams of equal order at their confluence to form a higher order stream, as shown in Photo 1. As stream order increases, so does the likelihood that the stream would be a perennial source of water.





Photo 1 Diagram showing Strahler stream order (Ritter et al. 1995, p. 151)

There are no watercourses located within the study area (Figure 5). The closest water source is the main branch of the Paramatta River, located approximately 270 metres south of the study area and the Archer Creek, a second order, non-perennial stream that branches from the Paramatta River, located approximately 337 metres west of the study area. The closest perennial water course is Powells Creek, a second-order creek line located 1.9 kilometres east of the study area. These waterlines would have provided an abundant supply of food and material resources which would have been exploited by Aboriginal people, increasing the likelihood that the study area would have been utilised.







3.1.2 Soil landscapes

The study area is located within the Lucas Heights soil landscape (Chapman et al. 1989, p. 26) (Figure 6). The Lucas Heights soil landscape is characterised as a residual landscape situated on flat to gently sloping plateaus of greater than 10% and local relief of up to 30 metres. Soils are generally moderately deep, with depths ranging between 50 to 150 centimetres (Chapman et al. 1989, pp. 26–27). Residual soils form due to the *in-situ* weathering of parent material and will therefore preserve archaeological deposits provided soils remain undisturbed. However, soils in the Lucas Heights landscape can be susceptible to movement by erosion due to the low organic content and small particle size of soils, resulting in poor preservation of archaeological sites (Chapman et al. 1989, p. 27). Characteristics of soil materials within the Lucas Heights soil landscape are summarised in Table 2 and Photo 2.

Soil material	Description	
lh1	Loose, yellowish-brown sandy loam, occurring as topsoil (A1 horizon). Texture is commonly sandy loam but may range from a loamy sand to a light sandy clay loam. The pH ranges from very strongly acid (pH 4.5) to slightly acid (pH 6.5). Common inclusions are iron coated, platy, fine sandstone rock fragments and charcoal fragments. Roots are also common.	
lh2	A bleached, stony, sandy clay loam, which commonly occurs as an A2 horizon. Textures commonly range with depth from clayey sand to fine sandy clay loam. The pH ranges from strongly acid (pH 4.0) to slightly acid (pH 6.0). Fine sandstone fragments and rounded iron nodules are abundant and are often concentrated at depth. Traces of charcoal are commonly present, but roots are rare.	
lh3	A yellowish-brown sandy clay loam with an earthy porous fabric, occurring as subsoil (B horizon) developed on coarse sandstone. Texture, which is commonly a sandy clay loam on the surface, may increase gradually with depth to a sandy clay. The pH ranges from strongly acid (pH 4.5) to slightly aci (pH 6.0). Iron coated sandstone fragments are common. They are usually stratified and reoriented. Charcoal fragments and roots are rare.	
lh4	A yellowish-brown sandy clay to heavy clay occurring as subsoil (B and C horizons) developed on fine- grained sandstone. The pH ranges between strongly acid (pH 4.0) and moderately acid (pH 5.0). Undisturbed, stratified bands of platy, iron coated, fine sandstone rock fragments are common. Charcoal fragments and roots are rarely present.	
Yellow podzolic soils and Soloths (Dy 2-41) Yellow earths (Gn 2-24)		

Table 2 Lucas Heights soil landscape characteristics (Chapman et al. 1989, pp. 27–28)



Photo 2 Schematic diagram of the Lucas Heights soil landscape (Chapman et al. 1989, pp. 27–28)





3.1.3 Landscape resources

The diverse natural environment would have provided vast and plentiful floral and faunal resources and the temperate climate would have made the area suitable for year-round occupation. Although extensively cleared today, the Lucas Heights soil landscape featured eucalypt open-forests and low eucalypt woodland with understories tolerant to dryness and heat. This landscape would have typically supported Turpentine *Syncarpia glomulifera*, Smooth-Barked Apple *Angophora costata*, Red Bloodwood *Eucalyptus gummifera*, Thinleaved Stringybark *E. eugenioides* and Scribbly Gum *E. haemastoma* (DPIE 2015).

Many of the plants found within the Sydney Basin were important to Aboriginal people and could be used for numerous purposes. These include using wood to make implements, berries, leaves and tubers for food and medicines as well as bark for shelters. One of the plants exploited may have been the eucalypt, whose leaves can be crushed and used for medicinal purposes, while the sap can be used as a sweet sugary food source and the bark could be used to make bowls and shelters (Rhodes & Dunnett 1985).

Given the proximity to the Iron Cove and Parramatta River, fish, eel, ducks, crayfish, shellfish, molluscs, and turtles would have formed an important part of people's diets. Middens in the area have confirmed that cockles, mud whelks, oysters, winks and horn shells were also eaten (Casey & Lowe Pty Ltd 2005, p. 55). Aquatic species such as freshwater crayfish, fish and eels would have been easily accessible in larger waterways, such as the Parramatta River (Rosen 1995).

In addition to marine resources, terrestrial and avian resources were not only used for food, but also provided a significant contribution to the social and ceremonial aspects of Aboriginal life through their use as ritual implements or even simply through fashioning as personal adornments (Attenbrow 2010, pp. 107–110). Mammals such as kangaroos and wallabies and arboreal mammals such as possums were used as a food source, and for tool making. Bones and teeth were also used as points or barbs for hunting spears and fishing spears. Tail sinews are known to have been used as a fastening cord, whilst 'bone points' can occur in rock shelters (Attenbrow 2010, p. 109). Animal skin, fur and sinews were also used for personal adornment and in making cloaks. Animals such as Brush-tailed Possums were highly prized for their fur, with possum skin cloaks recorded by the first settlers in the area. The cloaks were worn fastened over one shoulder and under the other. Kangaroo teeth were incorporated into decorative items such as head bands and beads were made from reeds and teeth (Rosen 1995).

3.1.4 Land use history

Historical aerial imagery allows for modern developments and land use to be identified within the study area. Aerial imagery dated to 1943 shows that the study area has been extensively cleared of vegetation (Photo 3). At this point in time the study area has been used for low grade agricultural purposed and the development of market gardens towards the northern extent of the study area. Some residential structures were present at the eastern boundary and towards the centre of the study area.





Photo 3 1943 aerial image with the study area outlined in red (Source: NSW Spatial Services 2023)

Little change occurred to the study area until 1965 when warehousing structures first appear (Photo 4). All vegetation within the study area has been removed at this stage, and the landscape has been modified to accommodate the new construction. The largest structures are in the eastern extent of the lot.





Photo 4 1965 aerial image with the study area outlined in red (Source: NSW Spatial Services 2023)

Further significant development does not occur in the study area until 1986 (Photo 5). Earlier development associated with the parking in the western portion of the school, which commenced prior to 1965, is seen to have been completed. Landscaping works are seen to have commenced on the eastern boundary of the lot and access roads were constructed to run parallel to Wharf Road.





Photo 5 1986 aerial image with the study area outlined in red (Source: NSW Spatial Services 2023)

The 1994 aerial reflect the extension of warehousing space to the western extent of the study area as the final construction activity to have taken place (Photo 6). Currently the study area has been levelled to the point where only remnant landscaping can be observed in the eastern boundary (Figure 2). Such significant and long-standing modification throughout the entirety of the study area is likely to have resulted in the destruction of any artefacts or sites within the study area.





Photo 6 1994 aerial image with the study area outlined in red (Source: NSW Spatial Services 2023)



3.2 Previous archaeological work

3.2.1 Regional overview

A number of Aboriginal cultural heritage investigations have been conducted for the Sydney Basin region. Models for predicting the location and type of Aboriginal sites with a general applicability to the Sydney Basin region and thus relevant to the study area have also been formulated, some as a part of these investigations and others from cultural heritage investigations for relatively large developments.

Aboriginal occupation of the region extends well back into the Pleistocene period (i.e prior to 10,000 years Before Present (BP). This is evidenced by radiocarbon dates retrieved from excavated sites at Shaw's Creek K2 (14,700 years BP) (Attenbrow 2010, p. 18) and a site in the immediate area of the current study, George and Charles Street, Parramatta (approximately 25,000-30,000 BP) (JMCHM 2005a).

Consequently, the archaeology of the Sydney Basin has been well documented through a large number of academic and heritage assessment investigations over the past three decades (e.g. Haglund, L. 1980, Kohen, J. 1986, Smith 1989, McDonald, J. & Rich, E. 1993). In the Cumberland Plain area of the Sydney Basin, rapid urban development during the past 30 years has resulted in a significant number of archaeological studies which inform the current study.

Kohen (1986) conducted a regional study of the Cumberland Plain's archaeology and made a number of observations regarding site location patterns in the broader Sydney Basin. The results of this assessment are summarised here:

- Proximity to water was a significant factor in both site pattern and location, with 65% of open artefact scatter sites being located within 100 metres of permanent fresh water. Open site artefact scatters are larger, more complex and more densely clustered around permanent water sources.
- The greatest proportion of sites were located on Wianamatta Shale substrates.
- Three site types were identified from observations of surface archaeology and classified according to function: camping sites, woodworking sites and hunting sites.
- Silcrete and chert were the most common materials used to manufacture stone artefacts. Silcrete comprised 51% of artefacts identified during Kohen's survey, and chert 34%. Other materials included quartz, basalt and quartzite.
- There was relationship between the amount of ground disturbance and the visibility of artefacts. The more disturbance which had occurred at a site, the more artefacts were visible.

Although Kohen's observations about the archaeology of the Cumberland Plain have been generally supported by subsequent investigations, the 1996 study relied heavily on surface evidence in formulating its conclusions. In the two decades since Kohen's study, a large number of archaeological excavations have been undertaken across the Cumberland Plain (JMCHM 2005a), which have demonstrated the existence of sub-surface deposits buried beneath current ground surfaces. This is a critical consideration in aggrading soil landscapes, such as those commonly found across the Cumberland Plain.

JMCHM (1997) expanded upon the work done by Kohen. Her investigation at St Marys (approximately 27 kilometres west of the current study area) presents a number of detailed conclusions about the broader archaeology of the Cumberland Plain, in particular, the potential for subsurface deposits in the absence of surface archaeology. McDonald's findings are summarised here:



- Sites cannot be adequately characterized on the basis of surface evidence alone, with 17 out of 61 excavated sites having no surface artefacts before excavation. The ratio of recorded surface to excavated material was 1:25.
- Open sites with subsurface archaeological deposits were the most commonly occurring sites.
- Open sites found in stable and aggrading landscapes may be intact and have the potential for internal structural integrity. Sites located in alluvium and other depositional environments contain the best potential for intact archaeological remains and stratification.
- Environmental factors can influence site patterning, with sites on permanent water being more complex than those situated on ephemeral or temporary water lines. However, there is not always a direct correlation between site location and the environment.
- Proximity to water, major water course confluences, and underlying geological units are key factors in site distribution.
- Stream order is an important factor in measuring the distribution of sites. Sites located in close
 proximity to established, permanent, and drainage channels (e.g., third and fourth order creeks) are
 more likely to have higher artefact densities and a greater diversity of tools than sites associated with
 lower order water courses. Temporary water sources and minor gullies tend to have single-use or
 occasionally repeated visits and hence lower density sites. Locations between creeks, such as ridgetops and spurs, may possibly contain archaeological evidence, which may vary according to proximity
 to water sources.
- Sites in close proximity to an identified stone source will contain a range of size and cortex characteristics in their assemblages. As distance increases from the source, artefact size and percentage of cortex in the assemblage will decrease.

White and McDonald (2010) undertook a review of previous work in the Rouse Hill development area, located approximately 20 kilometres north-west of the study area, discussing lithic artefact distribution in previous excavations carried out by JMCHM. The study considered a number of factors including stream order, distance from water, landform, aspect, and distance to silcrete sources. As a result of the assessment, the following statements were made:

- Stream Order: water supply was a significant factor influencing Aboriginal land use and habitation in the area. There was a correlation between increasing stream order and larger numbers and higher densities of artefacts (from a comparison of first, second, and fourth order streams).
- Distance from water: the results showed that an assumption that sites would be clustered within 50 metres of water sources was not entirely correct from the data available. In first order stream landscapes, there was no significant correlation between artefact distribution and distance to water. In second order landscapes, artefact density was highest within 50 metres of water, and then declined with increasing distance. In fourth order landscapes, density was highest between 51 to 100 metres from water.
- Landform: Artefact density was considered to be lowest on upper slopes and ridgetops, with density increasing on mid and lower slopes. Density was highest in terrace landforms, and lower on creek flats, likely due to repeated flooding events and the erosion the caused.
- Distance to silcrete sources: the results of the study showed no significant difference between sites located closer to or further away from silcrete sources. However, 6 kilometres was the maximum tested distance from silcrete sources, so the sample is only representative of a limited area.



• Aspect: only appeared to have an influence on sites in the lower parts of valleys may have been sited to take advantage of steady factors such as the rising/setting sun and wind direction. Sites in higher parts of valleys may have been influenced by weather and other factors.

The study concluded that landform and distance from water had an impact on site distribution, with artefacts although artefacts are found on all landforms, landform type influences artefact distribution, with the preference being for slightly elevated, well-drained areas in the lower parts of valleys.

3.2.2 Local overview

Archaeological research has suggested long term occupation of the Parramatta area by Aboriginal people as far back as 15,000 to 22,000 years BP. This is evidenced by radiocarbon dates retrieved from excavated sites at Shaw's Creek K2 (14,700 years BP) (Attenbrow 2010, p. 18) and a site in the immediate area of the current study, George and Charles Street, Parramatta (approximately 25,000-30,000 BP) (JMCHM 2005a). Stone tools found in the larger Parramatta region provide insight into the time depth of occupation by Aboriginal people within the study area. Steele (2002, p. 22) notes that Aboriginal people were observed using ground edge artefacts at the time of colonisation, and that these artefacts occur within the archaeological record as far back as 4,000 years. The occurrence of backed artefacts at nearby Parramatta Park suggests that Aboriginal people have consistently used the area for between 5,000 and 1,500 years BP (Austral Archaeology 2007, p. 9).

A number of Aboriginal cultural heritage investigations have been conducted within the region (within approximately 10 kilometres of the study area). Most of these investigations were undertaken as part of development applications and included surface and sub-surface investigations. These investigations are summarised below.

Steele and Carney (1997)

Steele and Carney were commissioned by the Olympic Co-Ordination Authority to conduct an Aboriginal and historical heritage assessment of 2 Figtree Drive, Sydney Olympic Park, located approximately 3.89 kilometres to the south of the current study area. They surveyed the site which was at the time a vacant lot or truck parking area. Steele and Carny did not identify any Aboriginal sites or areas of Aboriginal archaeological sensitivity. Carney and Steele did however determine that there was the potential for historical heritage relics or archaeological deposits to be present within the study area. Archaeological excavations were conducted on the site prior to the construction of the current building in the site. They found the soils present within the study area consisted of reformed top soil which was introduced to the site after erosional processes as a result of European settlement striped the original soil deposits (Steele, D. and Carney M. 1997, Urbis 2016, p. 28).

Haglund and Associates (2004)

Haglund and Associates undertook a series of excavations at the Parramatta Children's court, George Street, Parramatta, as part of an overall heritage assessment of the site. The site is approximately 6.3 kilometres west of the current study area. During excavations, a total of 21 trenches were dug to a maximum of 60 centimetres. Despite extensive modification and disturbance of the upper layers, including the removal or fill of original soil profiles, a number of Aboriginal artefacts were recovered (unfortunately the report does not contain exact numbers), at depths ranging from 30 to 60 centimetres. A variety of materials were retrieved, including silcrete, chert, quartz, and basalt. The presence of a sand layer was also noted during excavations, which may comprise part of the Parramatta Sand Body.



Irish (2004)

In 2004, Paul Irish undertook a study of Aboriginal scarred trees at Sydney Olympic Park, located approximately 2.5 kilometres to the south of the current study area. The assessment was conducted as part of the Aboriginal History and Connections Program (AHCP), established by the Parklands Unit at Sydney Olympic Park. The purpose of the AHCP was to explore Aboriginal connections to the Homebush Bay area of Sydney from the earliest occupation until the present day. The AHCP found that the Sydney Olympic Park landscape had been heavily disturbed by historical land use practices such as land reclamation and industrial activities. The ACHP found that the only area within Sydney Olympic Park that had any potential to contain evidence of Aboriginal occupation and cultural activity was the relict Cumberland Woodland known as the Wanngal (Newington) Woodland, within the Newington Nature Reserve (Irish, P. 2004, p. 59) A survey of the Woodland was conducted as part of Irish's assessment in order to relocate a number of scarred trees recorded in the area. This assessment determined that none of the previously recorded scarred trees were Aboriginal in origin, as the characteristics associated with cultural scarring were not present and the trees were much too young to have been scarred by Aboriginal people. A number of previously unrecorded artefact scatters were however identified during the survey.

Jo McDonald Cultural Heritage Management Pty Ltd (2005b)

Jo McDonald Cultural Heritage Management Pty Ltd (JMCHM) was commissioned by Rouse Hill Infrastructure Pty Ltd and Landcom to execute salvage excavations of eight Archaeological landscapes in Second Ponds Creek Valley at Rouse Hill, approximately 25 kilometres south east. They drew on earlier stream models and the results of excavations in Parramatta in order to develop a predictive model that has informed many subsequent studies in the region. McDonald's model discussed the importance of the Parramatta Sand Body, higher order streams and alluvial deposits in retaining evidence of Aboriginal occupation of the Sydney Basin extending into the Pleistocene. The following predictions were made regarding both Aboriginal occupation and the potential for archaeological materials to be present in the landscape:

- The likelihood of archaeological material being found is determined by the soil profile, the landform and geomorphology of the area and the extent of previous land use disturbance.
- Archaeological evidence of Aboriginal occupation could be extensive in the near vicinity of permanent watercourses supporting a wide range of natural resources (i.e. plants, fish, game).
- Evidence of long-term Aboriginal occupation will be found on the Parramatta Sand Body, in close proximity to permanent freshwater sources, such as the Parramatta River. These areas are "likely to contain archaeological evidence for repeated use, of both short and long term duration, by small and large groups of people," (JMCHM 2005b, p. 37)
- The Parramatta Sand Body comprises a stratified deposit and has the potential to preserve long term Aboriginal occupation and changes in climatic and other environmental conditions.

KNC (2014)

KNC was commissioned by Sinclair Knight Merz Pty Ltd to undertake an Aboriginal archaeological assessment for the WestConnex M4 Widening from Pitt Street, Parramatta to Homebush Bay Drive, Homebush, located approximately 4.2 kilometres south of the current study area at its closest point. KNC found that artefact scatters were the most common Aboriginal site type identified within proximity to the proposed works. Potential archaeological deposits (PADs), scarred trees, and isolated artefacts had also been recorded, however at slightly lower levels. KNC determined that the absence of previously recorded Aboriginal sites within one kilometre of their study area boundary was a result of intensive modification to the current landscape. KNC noted that Aboriginal archaeological sites were however likely to be identified in residual areas of low modification. An archaeological survey was also undertaken. No Aboriginal sites or areas of



archaeological sensitivity were identified, and the entire site was found to be heavily disturbed by previous road construction works and residential and commercial development.

Artefact Heritage (2016)

Artefact Heritage was commissioned by Ecove Group to undertake an archaeological assessment of Site 9, Sydney Olympic Park located approximately 3.7 kilometres to the south of the current study area. The assessment found that the site has undergone a large amount of landform modification as a result of agricultural activities throughout the 19th and 20th centuries, late twentieth century contamination fills, and subsequent urban redevelopment for Sydney Olympic Park. Geotechnical testing conducted at the site indicated that the top three to seven metres of soils at the site were made contaminated fill, which overlayed clays and shale bedrock (Artefact Heritage 2016, p. 17). Background research identified that prior to the development of Sydney Olympic Park, extensive earthworks were conducted over an area of 60 hectares north of Boundary Creek in order to remediate the contaminated soils present in the Homebush area (Artefact Heritage 2016, p. 21). The assessment found that the site had low potential for containing Aboriginal archaeological site or deposits due to the extensive levels of previous ground disturbance and landform modification present throughout the site (Artefact Heritage 2016, p. 27).

Urbis (2016)

Urbis was engaged by Mirvac to conduct a historical and Aboriginal Archaeological Assessment for 2 Figtree Drive, Sydney Olympic Park, the same location as the Steele and Carney (1997) assessment, located approximately 3.89 kilometres to the south of the current study area. No Aboriginal sites or areas of archaeological sensitivity were identified by Urbis. The study area was found to be heavily disturbed by historical, and more recent development, as well as previous historical archaeological excavations conducted at the site prior to the current building in the study area being constructed.

Biosis (2019a)

Biosis was commissioned to undertake an Aboriginal archaeological assessment to support an Environmental Impact Statement for the proposed hotel, serviced apartments and commercial development with plaza at 2 Australia Avenue, Site 2 (Lot 71 DP 1134933), Olympic Park, located approximately 3.5 kilometres south of the current study area. A desktop assessment was conducted as part of this Aboriginal archaeological assessment in accordance with requirements 1 to 4 of the Code. No previously recorded Aboriginal sites, objects or areas of archaeological sensitivity were identified during the desktop assessment. Due to the high levels of previous ground disturbance present, the entire study area was determined to have low archaeological potential. Further archaeological works were not recommended.

Biosis (2019b)

Biosis was commissioned by Bloompark Consulting Services Pty Ltd on behalf of St Joseph's College to complete an ACHA at St Joseph's College Hunters Hill, approximately 6.4 kilometres east of the study area. The assessment included background research, Aboriginal community consultation, field investigation, and test excavations. The field investigation identified low archaeological potential due to the high levels of previous disturbance, and a lack of landscape features which would indicate Aboriginal people utilised the area for occupational purposes. Archaeological test excavations were undertaken within the north-western and the north-eastern portions of the site within areas of low potential to confirm whether any subsurface archaeological deposits were present. No subsurface archaeological deposits were identified within the study area. The study area was assessed to contain low archaeological potential. No further archaeological investigations were recommended.



Biosis (2019c)

Biosis was commissioned by Health Infrastructure to undertake an ACHA for the proposed Concord Hospital Redevelopment project located at Concord West, located approximately 3.1 kilometres south-east of the current study area. The assessment included a field investigation, which did not identify any previously unrecorded Aboriginal cultural heritage sites. The effectiveness of the survey for examining the ground for Aboriginal sites was deemed low, and this was attributed to buildings, paved roads and walkways cover restricting ground surface visibility combined with a low number of exposures. The study area had been extensively developed and consequently disturbed, and no areas of archaeological sensitivity were identified.

3.2.3 AHIMS site analysis

A search of the AHIMS database conducted on 1 July 2024 (Client Service ID: 905888) identified 102 Aboriginal archaeological sites within a 11 x 11 kilometre search area, centred on the study area (Figure 7). None of these registered sites are located *within* the study area. The nearest AHIMS sites are shell sites AHIMS 45-6-4078/Ermington SHL 01, AHIMS 45-6-4079/Ermington SHL 02, and AHIMS 45-5-1961/Ermington 1. AHIMS search results are provided in Appendix 1. Table 3 provides the frequencies of Aboriginal site types in the vicinity of the study. The mapping coordinates recorded for these sites were checked for consistency with their descriptions and location on maps from Aboriginal heritage reports where available.

It should be noted that the AHIMS database reflects Aboriginal sites that have been officially recorded and included on the list. Large areas of NSW have not been subject to systematic, archaeological survey; hence AHIMS listings may reflect previous survey patterns and should not be considered a complete list of Aboriginal sites within a given area. Some recorded sites consist of more than one element, for example artefacts and a modified tree, however for the purposes of this breakdown and the predictive modelling, all individual site types will be studied and compared. This explains why there are **136** results presented here, compared to the **102** sites identified in AHIMS.

Site type	Number of occurrences	Frequency (%)
Artefact	66	48.53
Shell	35	25.74
PAD	18	13.24
Art (Pigment or Engraved)	9	6.62
Grinding Groove	3	2.21
Aboriginal Resource and Gathering	2	1.47
Modified Tree (Carved or Scarred)	1	0.74
Burial	1	0.74
Earth Mound	1	0.74
Total	136	100

Table 3AHIMS site type frequency







Legend

- Study area
- \star AHIMS

NOT TO BE MADE PUBLIC

Figure 7 AHIMS within the vicinity of the study area





Metres Scale: 1:40,000 @ A3 Coordinate System: GDA2020 MGA Zone 56



Matter: 40105, Date: 17 December 2024, Prepared for: MC, Prepared by: AA, Last edited by: aabid Location: P:\40100s\40105\Mapping\ 40105_ACHA_AR_MelrosePrk, Layout: 40105_AR_MelrosePark_F7_AHIMS



3.3 Discussion

A desktop review of the landscape context of the study area has determined that Aboriginal people may have used the landscape prior to European settlement. The study area is located within a gently sloping landscape within 270 metres of the Parramatta River and 340 metres of Archer Creek, a second-order tributary of the Parramatta River. The Parramatta River was a source for a range of terrestrial and marine resources that would have typically provided local populations inhabiting the Melrose Park locality. The Lucas Heights soil landscape is associated with moderately deep but loose soils that can be prone to mass movement. It is therefore typically not conducive to the retention and preservation of archaeological sites. The Hawksbury Sandstone unit which dominates the study area has been associated with art, shelter, and grinding groove sites in previous assessment. However, the lack of outcroppings and overhangs available within the study area indicates such site types will not be present.

A search of the AHIMS database identified 102 Aboriginal archaeological sites recorded within a 11 square kilometre search area, centred on the study area. None of these AHIMS sites are located within the study area or in the immediate vicinity. The nearest AHIMS sites are shell sites AHIMS 45-6-4078/Ermington SHL 01, AHIMS 45-6-4079/Ermington SHL 02, and AHIMS 45-5-1961/Ermington 1 detected within the foreshore of the Parramatta River approximately 600 metres south of the study area. These sites are located within a relatively undisturbed context, which are not present within the study area.

While the study area does possess some characteristics, such as proximity to a significant creek line, which could be indicators of previous Aboriginal use or occupation, a review of the aerial imagery for the study area indicates substantial development has occurred within it. This would have resulted in a high level of disturbance that would have displaced and/or destroyed any potential archaeological deposits within the study area. This aligns with other studies that have been conducted within the Parramatta region across similar landforms and areas of disturbance (Urbis 2016, Artefact Heritage 2016, Biosis 2019b, Biosis 2019c)

3.3.1 Predictive statements

A series of predictive statements has been formulated to broadly predict the type and character of Aboriginal cultural heritage sites likely to have existed throughout the study area and where they are more likely to be located.

These statements are based on:

- Site distribution in relation to landscape descriptions within the study area.
- Consideration of site type, raw material types and site densities likely to be present within the study area.
- Findings of the ethnohistorical research on the potential for material traces to present within the study area.
- Potential Aboriginal use of natural resources present or once present within the study area.
- Consideration of the temporal and spatial relationships of sites within the study area and surrounding region.

Table 4 indicates the site types most likely to be encountered across the present study area. The definition of each site type is described firstly, followed by the predicted likelihood of this site type occurring within the study area.



Table 4	Aboriginal site prediction statements
I GOIC 4	/ Boriginal Site prediction Statements

Site type	Site description	Potential
Flaked stone artefact scatters and isolated artefacts	Artefact scatter sites can range from high- density concentrations of flaked stone and ground stone artefacts to sparse, low- density 'background' scatters and isolated finds.	Low: Stone artefact sites have been previously recorded in the region across a wide range of landforms. Due to the high levels of previous ground disturbance within the study area it is unlikely that artefact sites are present in the study area.
Shell middens	Deposits of shells accumulated over either singular large resource gathering events or over longer periods of time.	Low: Shell midden sites have been previously recorded in the region in close proximity to reliable water sources. Due to the high levels of previous ground disturbance within the study area, and previous modifications to creek lines in the local area, it is unlikely that midden sites are present in the study area.
PADs	Potential sub surface deposits of cultural material.	Low: PADs have been previously recorded in the region across a wide range of landforms. Due to the high levels of previous ground disturbance within the study area it is unlikely that PAD sites are present in the study area.
Burials	Aboriginal burial sites.	Low: Aboriginal burial sites are generally situated within deep, soft sediments, caves or hollow trees. The soil profiles associated with the study area are not commonly associated with burials. The high levels of previous ground disturbance also indicate that the potential for Aboriginal burials in the study area is low.
Aboriginal Ceremony and Dreaming sites	Such sites are often intangible places and features and are identified through oral histories, ethnohistoric data, or Aboriginal informants.	Low: There are currently no recorded mythological stories for the study area.
Post-contact sites	These are sites relating to the shared history of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people of an area and may include places such as missions, massacre sites, post-contact camp sites and buildings associated with post- contact Aboriginal use.	Low: There are no post-contact sites previously recorded in the study area and historical sources do not identify one.
Aboriginal places	Aboriginal places may not contain any 'archaeological' indicators of a site but are nonetheless important to Aboriginal people. They may be places of cultural, spiritual or historic significance. Often, they are places tied to community history and may include natural features (such as swimming and fishing holes), places where Aboriginal political events commenced or particular	Low: There are currently no recorded Aboriginal historical associations for the study area.


Site type	Site description	Potential
	buildings.	
Quarries	Raw stone material procurement sites.	Nil: No appropriate outcroppings are available that could have been utilised for the procurement of raw materials and there is no record of any quarries being within or surrounding the study area.
Modified trees	Trees with cultural modifications	Nil: No old growth native trees exist within the study area. There is therefore no potential for modified trees to be present within the study area
Axe grinding grooves	Grooves created in stone platforms through ground stone tool manufacture.	Nil: The geology of the study area lacks suitable horizontal sandstone rock outcrops for axe-grinding grooves. Therefore, there is no potential for axe grinding grooves to occur in the study area.
Rock shelters with art and/or deposit	Rock shelter sites include rock overhangs, shelters or caves, and generally occur on, or next to, moderate to steeply sloping ground characterised by cliff lines and escarpments. These naturally formed features may contain rock art, stone artefacts or midden deposits and may also be associated with grinding grooves.	Nil: The sites will only occur where suitable sandstone exposures or overhangs possessing sufficient sheltered space exist, which are not present in the study area.



4 Archaeological survey

An archaeological survey of the study area was undertaken for the PIHAI on 29 March 2024 by Bronte Baonza (Biosis, Heritage Consultant). An updated survey was undertaken on 6 November 2024 by Ashley Bridge (Biosis, Senior Heritage Consultant) and Jordan Mahi (Metropolitan LALC, Cultural Sites Officer). The field survey sampling strategy, methodology and a discussion of results are provided below.

4.1 Archaeological survey objectives

The objectives of the survey were to:

- Provide RAPs an opportunity to view the study area and to discuss previously identified Aboriginal object(s) and/or place(s) in or within close proximity to the study area.
- Undertake a systematic survey of the study area targeting areas with the potential for Aboriginal heritage.
- Identify and record Aboriginal archaeological sites visible on the ground surface.
- Identify and record areas of PADs.

4.2 Archaeological survey methodology

The survey methods were intended to assess and understand the landforms and to determine whether any archaeological material from Aboriginal occupation or land use exists within the study area.

4.2.1 Survey methods

The archaeological survey was conducted on foot with a field team of two members. Recording during the survey followed the archaeological survey requirements of the Code and industry best practice methodology. Information that recorded during the survey included:

- Aboriginal objects or sites present in the study area during the survey.
- Survey coverage.
- Any resources that may have been exploited by Aboriginal people.
- Landform.
- Photographs of the site indicating landform.
- Evidence of disturbance.
- Aboriginal artefacts, culturally modified trees or any other Aboriginal sites.

Where possible, identification of natural soil deposits within the study area was undertaken. Photographs and recording techniques were incorporated into the survey including representative photographs of survey units, landform, vegetation coverage, ground surface visibility (GSV) and the recording of soil information for each survey unit were possible.

Any potential Aboriginal objects observed during the survey were documented and photographed. The location of Aboriginal cultural heritage and points marking the boundary of the landform elements were



recorded using a handheld Global Positioning System (GPS) and the Map Grid of Australia (94) coordinate system.

4.3 Constraints to the survey

With any archaeological survey there are several factors that influence the effectiveness (the likelihood of finding sites) of the survey. The factors that contributed most to the effectiveness of the survey within the study area were reduced visibility from ground disturbances. These include earth works and the previous use of the study area as a car park and other structural demolition.

4.4 Visibility

In most archaeological reports and guidelines visibility refers to GSV and is usually a percentage estimate of the ground surface that is visible and allowing for the detection of (usually stone) artefacts that may be present on the ground surface (DECCW 2010b). GSV in the study area during the previous survey was low (0-10%), which was due to extensive regrowth coverage or the remnant stone covering the surface (Photo 7 to Photo 9). The updated survey had high GSV (90-100%), due to ground levels across the study area flattened (Photo 10).



Photo 7 GSV (0%) along eastern boundary of the study area displaying grass cover and undulating landform, facing east (PIHAI survey)



Photo 8 GSV (0%) in the southern portion of the study area, displaying the gravel covering the study area, facing south (PIHAI survey)





Photo 9 GSV (0%) within the northern portion of the study area, depicting regrowth and grass coverage, facing north (PIHAI survey)



Photo 10 GSV (90%) within the central portion of the study area, facing south (Updated survey)

4.5 Exposure

Exposure refers to the geomorphic conditions of the local landform being surveyed and attempts to describe the relationship between those conditions and the likelihood the prevailing conditions provide for the exposure of (buried) archaeological materials. Whilst also usually expressed as a percentage estimate, exposure is different to visibility in that it is in part a summation of geomorphic processes, rather than a simple observation of the ground surface (Burke & Smith 2004, p. 79, DECCW 2010b).

During the previous survey, the study area displayed low areas of exposure, ranging between 0 to 10% in the study area. The highest areas of exposure were in the southern and western corner due to vehicle tracks. In the majority of the study area, exposure was minimal (0-10%) and was limited due to the extensive gravel and vegetation coverage (Photo 11 to Photo 13). The updated survey displayed similar levels of exposure, due to vehicle tracks and demolition clearance.





Photo 11 Area of exposure (10%) around car tracks, located in the southern portion of the study area, facing south

- Photo 12 Area of exposure (10%) near demolished area and car tracks, located in the northern portion of the study area, facing west



Photo 13 Area of exposure (10%) surrounded by regrowth and stone piles located within the central portion of the study area, facing north





Photo 14 Area of exposure (100%) due to vehicle tracks and land clearing in the northern portion of the study area, facing south

4.6 Disturbances

Disturbance in the study area is associated with natural and human agents. Natural agents generally affect small areas and include the burrowing and scratching in soil by animals, such as wombats, foxes, rabbits and wallabies, and sometimes exposure from slumping or scouring. Disturbances associated with recent human action are prevalent in the study area and cover large sections of the land surface. The agents include civic development such as demolition and initial vegetation clearance for a previous car park and buildings.

Disturbance levels within the study area were assessed during the visual inspection. Levels of disturbance were categorised through an inspection of the ground surface, landforms and aerial imagery. Disturbance levels within the study area have been categorised according to the following criteria:

- High disturbance—the landform has been heavily disturbed and all natural soil horizons have been displaced or removed, these areas are unlikely to contain Aboriginal cultural material.
- Moderate disturbance—the landform has undergone disturbances to a certain degree, but the extent and nature of these disturbances cannot be fully quantified. Aboriginal cultural material may be present within these locations but is unlikely to be *in situ*.
- Low disturbance—the landform has not been significantly disturbed and is highly likely to contain intact soil horizons. Aboriginal cultural material if present is likely to be *in situ*.

The study area has experienced high levels of disturbance over time across the entire extent. These include the study area being used as a carpark as well as having buildings which would have had significant earthworks for these constructions. The demolition of these buildings would have caused further impacts, leaving evidence of rubble, previous drainage and modifications to landforms.

The study area has been subject to extensive native vegetation clearance, with no mature vegetation within the property. Disturbance due to extensive vegetation clearance was evident in historical aerial imagery, which showed that the ground surface had undergone multiple stages of clearance from 1943 (Photo 3). Low numbers of mature trees were located during the survey with no evidence of cultural modification present.

The extensive levels of disturbance throughout the study area would have impacted both surface and subsurface deposits. Soils disturbed from vegetation clearing experience higher levels of displacement and re-deposition in shallow layers. Civic infrastructure involves the removal and modification of soils for installation of fence lines, driveways, buildings and landscaped areas as well as the inclusion of utilities, sewer,



water and electricity (Photo 15 to Photo 17). Disturbance of this nature is characterised as high and is evident throughout the entirety of the study area altering present landforms through bulk excavation. Disturbances of this nature would likely result in limited preservation of intact archaeological deposits in subsurface layers.



Photo 15 Previous drainage located in the eastern portion of the study area, facing east

Photo 16 Brick left from previous works in the southern portion of the study area, facing north



Photo 17 Remnants of previous works located in the north-eastern portion of the study area, facing south





Photo 18 Remnants of previous works located in the southern portion of the study area, facing south-east

4.7 Archaeological survey results

A total of one meandering transect was walked across one landform with the two surveyors walking two metres apart (Figure 8). This follows the methodology set out in Burke & Smith (2004, p. 65), which states that a single person can only effectively visually survey an area of two linear metres. No Aboriginal sites or PADs were identified in the study area. The results from the field survey have been summarised in Table 5 below and full transect details are provided in Table 6.

 able 5 Sulve	y coverage				
Landform	Survey unit area (m2)	Visibility (0%)	Exposure (%)	Effective coverage area (m2)	Effective coverage (%)
Flat	1637.06	5	5	4.09	0.25

Table 5Survey coverage

Table 6 Landform summary

Landform	Landform area (m2)		Landform effectively surveyed (m2)	No. of artefacts or features
Flat	9185.53	4.09	0.04	0

4.8 Discussion of archaeological survey results

The study area is in an urban environment previously developed for industrial use within the Cumberland Plain, The Cumberland Plain consists of low lying, gently undulating plains and low hills comprised of Wianamatta Group shales and sandstones, with a dense drainage net of predominantly northward flowing channels. The study area is situated within the Hawkesbury Sandstone formation. Due to the level of modification within the study area, such features associated with these site types are likely to have been destroyed, should they have been present. The closest water source is the Paramatta River, located approximately 270 metres south of the study area and the Archer Creek, a second order non-perennial stream that branches from the Paramatta River, located approximately 337 metres west of the study area. There is also Powells Creek, a second-order perennial creek line located 1.9 kilometres east of the study area.



While the study area is in an area with resource potential based on the geology and the close vicinity to watercourses, the level of modification within the study area has created significant disturbance.

The study area is located within the Lucas Heights soil landscape. The soils are moderately deep (50-150 centimetre) and the landscape is characterised as a residual landscape situated on flat to gently sloping plateaus of greater than 10% and local relief of up to 30 metres. Residual soils form due to the *in-situ* weathering of parent material and will therefore preserve archaeological deposits provided soils remain undisturbed. However due to the deep impacts of the previous industrial development, including earth works and subsurface drainage systems, the gross disturbance of the study area has resulted in poor preservation of archaeological sites.

Previous archaeological investigations undertaken in the local region concluded that landform and distance from water had an impact on site distribution. Although artefacts are found on all landforms, the landform type influences artefact distribution. Within the local region, the areas likely to withhold Aboriginal sites would be slightly elevated, well-drained areas in the lower parts of valleys. The study area is within 270 metres of the Parramatta River and is situated on a flat landform which has been modified from construction works. It is unlikely that Aboriginal sites would remain *in situ*, therefore there would be low potential for archaeological sites.

A review of historical aerial photographs, paired with the archaeological investigation, identified that the study area has been extensively disturbed by previous earth works and developments. The field investigation was hampered by low visibility; however, clear evidence of disturbance was observed throughout the study area. While there were no remaining structures remaining in the study area, disturbance caused by earth movement was evident within all portions of the study area. The landforms present have been altered which have flattened the ground to develop the school. The activities associated with development, including land clearing and large-scale soil displacement would have likely resulted in poor preservation of archaeological material and would have destroyed any *in situ* archaeological deposits within the study area.

No evidence of shell was identified during the field investigation indicating that midden sites are not present within the study area. No trees with cultural modifications were identified within the study area, and no Aboriginal sites or objects were identified or are likely to be present due to the gross disturbance present. Site officers from elected RAPs participated in the field investigation and provided comment on the study area regarding the proposal. Jordan Mahi from the Metropolitan LALC noted that there was no cultural importance in the study area. Therefore, the background research coupled with the results of the field investigation has shown the study area is heavily disturbed and possesses low archaeological potential.







5 Scientific values and significance assessment

The two main values addressed when assessing the significance of Aboriginal sites are cultural values to the Aboriginal community and archaeological (scientific) values. This report will assess scientific values while the ACHA report will detail the cultural values of Aboriginal sites in the study area.

5.1 Introduction to the assessment process

Heritage assessment criteria in NSW fall broadly within the significance values outlined in the Australia International Council on Monuments and Sites (ICOMOS) Burra Charter (Australia ICOMOS 2013). This approach to heritage has been adopted by cultural heritage managers and government agencies as the set of guidelines for best practice heritage management in Australia. These values are provided as background and include:

- **Historical significance** (evolution and association) refers to historic values and encompasses the history of aesthetics, science and society, and therefore to a large extent underlies all of the terms set out in this section. A place may have historic value because it has influenced, or has been influenced by, an historic figure, event, phase or activity. It may also have historic value as the site of an important event. For any given place the significance will be greater where evidence of the association or event survives in situ, or where the settings are substantially intact, than where it has been changed or evidence does not survive. However, some events or associations may be so important that the place retains significance regardless of subsequent treatment.
- **Aesthetic significance** (Scenic/architectural qualities, creative accomplishment) refers to the sensory, scenic, architectural and creative aspects of the place. It is often closely linked with social values and may include consideration of form, scale, colour, texture, and material of the fabric or landscape, and the smell and sounds associated with the place and its use.
- **Social significance** (contemporary community esteem) refers to the spiritual, traditional, historical or contemporary associations and attachment that the place or area has for the present-day community. Places of social significance have associations with contemporary community identity. These places can have associations with tragic or warmly remembered experiences, periods or events. Communities can experience a sense of loss should a place of social significance be damaged or destroyed. These aspects of heritage significance can only be determined through consultative processes with local communities.
- Scientific significance (Archaeological, industrial, educational, research potential and scientific significance values) refers to the importance of a landscape, area, place or object because of its archaeological and/or other technical aspects. Assessment of scientific value is often based on the likely research potential of the area, place or object and will consider the importance of the data involved, its rarity, quality or representativeness, and the degree to which it may contribute further substantial information.

The cultural and archaeological significance of Aboriginal and historic sites and places is assessed on the basis of the significance values outlined above. As well as the ICOMOS Burra Charter significance values guidelines, various government agencies have developed formal criteria and guidelines that have application when assessing the significance of heritage places within NSW. Of primary interest are guidelines prepared by the Australian Commonwealth Department of Climate Change, Environment, Energy, and Water (Cth DCCEEW) and Heritage NSW. The relevant sections of these guidelines are presented below.



These guidelines state that an area may contain evidence and associations which demonstrate one or any combination of the ICOMOS Burra Charter significance values outlined above in reference to Aboriginal heritage. Reference to each of the values should be made when evaluating archaeological and cultural significance for Aboriginal sites and places.

In addition to the previously outlined heritage values, the Heritage NSW Guidelines (OEH 2011) also specify the importance of considering cultural landscapes when determining and assessing Aboriginal heritage values. The principle behind a cultural landscape is that 'the significance of individual features is derived from their inter-relatedness within the cultural landscape'. This means that sites or places cannot be 'assessed in isolation' but must be considered as parts of the wider cultural landscape. Hence the site or place will possibly have values derived from its association with other sites and places. By investigating the associations between sites, places, and (for example) natural resources in the cultural landscape the stories behind the features can be told. The context of the cultural landscape can unlock 'better understanding of the cultural meaning and importance' of sites and places.

Although other values may be considered — such as educational or tourism values — the two principal values that are likely to be addressed in a consideration of Aboriginal sites and places are the cultural/social significance to Aboriginal people and their archaeological or scientific significance to archaeologists. The determinations of archaeological and cultural significance for sites and places should then be expressed as statements of significance that preface a concise discussion of the contributing factors to Aboriginal cultural heritage significance.

5.2 Archaeological (scientific significance) values

Archaeological significance (also called scientific significance, as per the ICOMOS Burra Charter) refers to the value of archaeological objects or sites as they relate to research questions that are of importance to the archaeological community, including indigenous communities, heritage managers and academic archaeologists. Generally the value of this type of significance is determined on the basis of the potential for sites and objects to provide information regarding the past life-ways of people (Burke & Smith 2004, p. 249, NPWS 1997, p. 26).

For this reason, the NPWS summarises the situation as 'while various criteria for archaeological significance assessment have been advanced over the years, most of them fall under the heading of archaeological research potential' (NPWS 1997, p. 26).

The NPWS criteria for archaeological significance assessment are based largely on the ICOMOS Burra Charter.

Research potential

Research potential is assessed by examining site content and site condition. Site content refers to all cultural materials and organic remains associated with human activity at a site. Site content also refers to the site structure – the size of the site, the patterning of cultural materials within the site, the presence of any stratified deposits and the rarity of particular artefact types. As the site contents criterion is not applicable to scarred trees, the assessment of scarred trees is outlined separately below. Site condition refers to the degree of disturbance to the contents of a site at the time it was recorded.

Table 7 and Table 8 outline the site content and site condition rating used for archaeological sites.



Table 7 Site contents ratings used for archaeological sites

Rating	Description
0	No cultural material remaining.
1	Site contains a small number (e.g. 0–10 artefacts) or limited range of cultural materials with no evident stratification.
2	Site contains a larger number, but limited range of cultural materials; and/or some intact stratified deposit remains; and/or are or unusual example(s) of a particular artefact type.
3	Site contains a large number and diverse range of cultural materials; and/or largely intact stratified deposit; and/or surface spatial patterning of cultural materials that still reflect the way in which the cultural materials were deposited.

Table 8 Site condition ratings used for archaeological sites

Rating	Description
0	Site destroyed.
1	Site in a deteriorated condition with a high degree of disturbance; lack of stratified deposits; some cultural materials remaining.
2	Site in a fair to good condition, but with some disturbance.
3	Site in an excellent condition with little or no disturbance. For surface artefact scatters this may mean that the spatial patterning of cultural materials still reflects the way in which the cultural materials were laid down.

Pearson & Sullivan (1995, p. 149) note that Aboriginal archaeological sites are generally of high research potential because 'they are the major source of information about Aboriginal prehistory'. Indeed, the often great time depth of Aboriginal archaeological sites gives them research value from a global perspective, as they are an important record of humanity's history. Research potential can also refer to specific local circumstances in space and time — a site may have particular characteristics (well preserved samples for absolute dating, or a series of refitting artefacts, for example) that mean it can provide information about certain aspects of Aboriginal life in the past that other less or alternatively valuable sites may not (Burke & Smith 2004, pp. 247–248). When determining research potential value particular emphasis has been placed on the potential for absolute dating of sites.

The following sections provide statements of significance for the Aboriginal archaeological sites recorded during the sub-surface testing for the assessment. The significance of each site follows the assessment process outlined above. This includes a statement of significance based on the categories defined in the Burra Charter. These categories include social, historic, scientific, aesthetic and cultural (in this case archaeological) landscape values. Nomination of the level of value — high, moderate, low or not applicable — for each relevant category is also proposed. Where suitable the determination of cultural (archaeological) landscape value is applied to both individual sites and places (to explore their associations) and also, to the Study Area as a whole. The nomination levels for the archaeological significance of each site are summarised below.

Representativeness

Representativeness refers to the regional distribution of a particular site type. Representativeness is assessed by whether the site is common, occasional, or rare in a given region. Assessments of representativeness are subjectively biased by current knowledge of the distribution and number of archaeological sites in a region. This varies from place to place depending on the extent of archaeological research. Consequently, a site that is assigned low significance values for contents and condition, but a high significance value for



representativeness, can only be regarded as significant in terms of knowledge of the regional archaeology. Any such site should be subject to re-assessment as more archaeological research is undertaken.

Assessment of representativeness also considers the contents and condition of a site. For example, in any region there may only be a limited number of sites of any type that have suffered minimal disturbance. Such sites would therefore be given a high significance rating for representativeness, although they may occur commonly within the region.

Table 9 outlines the site representativeness ratings used for archaeological sites.

Table 9 Site representativeness ratings used for archaeological sites

Rating	Description
1	Common occurrence
2	Occasional occurrence
3	Rare occurrence

Overall scientific significance ratings for sites, based on a cumulative score for site contents, site integrity and representativeness are provided in Table 10.

Table 10 Scientific significance ratings used for archaeological sites

Rating	Description
1-3	Low scientific significance
4-6	Moderate scientific significance
7-9	High scientific significance

Each site is given a score on the basis of these criteria. The overall scientific significance is determined by the cumulative score.

5.2.1 Statements of archaeological significance

No Aboriginal sites, objects or areas of archaeological potential were identified within the study area as part of this assessment. While the study area is in close proximity to Parramatta River, which would have been a significant source for resources and feature in the cultural landscape, there has been significant disturbance to and modification of the natural landform due to previous developments which have taken place since at least in the mid - to late 19th century. Given the distance to watercourses the study area may have been a transitory location, with activity and occupation likely more focused closer to these resource locations. Transitory activities can leave archaeological traces, albeit in low density quantities, as has been shown in several nearby sites. Data gathered through background research and observations from the archaeological survey suggest that A-horizon in the disturbed soil landscape are likely to have been removed from the study area. The study area therefore does not have any research potential, scientific significance or representativeness associated with it. This assessment has therefore determined that the study area does not contain any archaeological significance.



6 Impact assessment

Within the study area, there are no recorded Aboriginal sites that may be subject to harm. It is expected that the potential of harm to Aboriginal archaeological sites from development within the impact area ranges from negligible to low. Strategies to avoid or minimise harm to Aboriginal heritage in the study area are discussed below.

Subject to implementing the recommendations set out in Section 7 and mitigation measures in Section 6.3 of this report, the conclusion is that the proposed activity is not likely to significantly affect the environment in relation to Aboriginal heritage.

6.1 Predicted physical impacts

The proposed development involves a masterplan for a small high school with teaching spaces, staff facilities, hall, library and outdoor spaces (Section 2). These works have potential to impact on ground surfaces and sub surface soils.

6.2 Ecologically Sustainable Development

One of the primary aims of the NP&W Act is the 'conservation of objects places and features ... of cultural value within the landscape, including ... places, objects and features of significance to Aboriginal people ...' ((s.2A(1)(b)(i)). The *Operational Policy: Protecting Aboriginal Cultural Heritage (Version 2)* (DECC NSW 2011) provides guidance to proponents in term of 1.1 Ecologically Sustainable Development (ESD).

ESD has been defined in Part 3, 6. (2) Objective of the Authority of the *Protection of the Environment Administration Act 1991* (NSW). This outlines that the ESD requires the integration of economic and environmental considerations (including cultural heritage) in the decision-making process. In regard to Aboriginal cultural heritage, ESD can be achieved by applying the principle of intergenerational equity and the precautionary principle.

Intergenerational equity

The principle of intergenerational equity states that the present generation should make every effort to ensure the health, diversity and productivity of the environment – which includes cultural heritage – for the benefit of future generations.

In terms of Aboriginal cultural heritage, intergenerational equity can be considered in terms of the 'cumulative impacts' of any proposal to Aboriginal objects and places. For example, if few Aboriginal objects and places remain in a region (because of harm authorised under previous AHIPs), fewer opportunities remain for future generations of Aboriginal people to enjoy the cultural benefits of those Aboriginal objects and places.

Information about the significance of Aboriginal cultural heritage values associated with the Aboriginal objects and places proposed to be harmed will be relevant to the consideration of intergenerational equity and an understanding of the cumulative impacts of a proposal.

Where there is uncertainty, the precautionary principle should also be followed (see below).

The precautionary principle



The precautionary principle states that the lack of full scientific certainty about the threat of harm should not be used as a reason for not taking measures to prevent harm from occurring.

In applying the precautionary principle, decisions should be guided by:

- a careful evaluation to avoid, wherever practicable, serious or irreversible damage to the environment (which includes cultural heritage)
- an assessment of the risk-weighted consequences of various options. The precautionary principle is relevant to OEH consideration of potential harm to Aboriginal cultural heritage where:
- the proposal involves a risk of serious or irreversible harm to Aboriginal objects or places or to the value of those objects or places, and
- there is a lot of uncertainty about the significance of Aboriginal cultural heritage values of the Aboriginal objects or places proposed to be harmed.

Where this is the case, a precautionary approach should be taken and all cost-effective measures implemented to prevent or reduce harm to the Aboriginal objects/place.

6.3 Management and mitigation measures

Ideally, heritage management involves conservation of sites through the preservation and conservation of fabric and context within a framework of 'doing as much as necessary, as little as possible' (Marquis-Kyle & Walker 1994, p. 13). In cases where conservation is not practical, several options for management are available. For sites, management often involves the salvage of features or artefacts, retrieval of information through excavation or collection (especially where impact cannot be avoided) and interpretation.

Avoidance of impact to archaeological and cultural heritage sites through design of the development is the primary mitigation and management strategy, and should be implemented where practicable.

As part of the management and mitigation measures for the proposed works, an ACHA including an archaeological survey and consultation with the Aboriginal community was undertaken. This was done to determine the presence and nature of any potential Aboriginal sites so that appropriate management could be undertaken. The survey did not identify the presence of any Aboriginal sites and the study area was assessed as holding low potential. This was based of its environmental context and the significant existing disturbances which have likely resulted in the removal of A horizon soils which have the capacity to accumulate cultural deposits.

The following mitigation measures should be implemented as part of these works:

6.3.1 No further archaeological work required; works may proceed with caution

No Aboriginal sites, objects or areas of archaeological potential were identified as part of this assessment. Therefore, the works may proceed with caution. This recommendation is conditional upon the recommendations outlined in this report.

6.3.2 Continued consultation with the registered Aboriginal stakeholders

As per the consultation requirements, a copy of the final ACHA should be provided to RAPs for their records. The proponent should continue to inform these groups about the management of Aboriginal cultural heritage sites within the study area throughout the life of the project, should any sites be identified during the remainder of this assessment or during the proposed works.





7 Recommendations

Subject to implementing the recommendations and mitigation measures set out in Section 6.3 and Section 7 of this report, the conclusion of this assessment is that the proposed activity is not likely to significantly affect the environment in relation to Aboriginal heritage matters.

Strategies have been developed based on the archaeological (significance) of cultural heritage relevant to the study area and influenced by:

- Predicted impacts to Aboriginal cultural heritage.
- The planning approvals framework.
- Current best conservation practise, widely considered to include:
 - Ethos of the Australia ICOMOS Burra Charter.
 - The Code.

Prior to any impacts occurring within the study area, the following is recommended.

Recommendation 1: No further assessment required; works may proceed with caution

No Aboriginal sites, objects or areas of archaeological potential were identified as part of this assessment. Therefore, the works may proceed with caution. This recommendation is conditional upon Recommendation 2 to 4.

Recommendation 2: Consultation with the registered Aboriginal stakeholders

As per the consultation requirements, a copy of the final ACHA should be provided to RAPs for their records. Should any sites be identified during the remainder of this assessment or during the proposed works, the proponent should continue to inform these groups about the management of Aboriginal cultural heritage sites within the study area throughout the life of the project.

Recommendation 3: Discovery of unanticipated Aboriginal objects

All Aboriginal objects and Places are protected under the NPW Act. It is an offence to knowingly disturb an Aboriginal site without a consent permit issued by Heritage NSW. Should any Aboriginal objects be encountered during works associated with this proposal, works must cease in the vicinity and the find should not be moved until assessed by a qualified archaeologist. If the find is determined to be an Aboriginal object, the archaeologist will provide further recommendations. These may include notifying Heritage NSW and Aboriginal stakeholders.

Recommendation 4: Discovery of human remains

Human remains may be found in a variety of landscapes in NSW, including middens and sandy or soft sedimentary soils. If any suspected human remains are discovered during any activity, you must:

- 1. Immediately cease all work at that location and not further move or disturb the remains.
- 2. Notify the NSW Police and Heritage NSW' Environmental Line on 131 555 as soon as practicable and provide details of the remains and their location.
- 3. Not recommence work at that location unless authorised in writing by Heritage NSW.



References

Artefact Heritage 2016. Archaeological Assessment, Site 9, Sydney Olympic Park, Ecove Group.

Attenbrow V 2010. *Sydney's Aboriginal Past: Investigating the Archaeological and Historical Records*, 2nd edn, University of New South Wales Press, Sydney, NSW.

Australia ICOMOS 2013. The Burra Charter: The Australia ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Significance', https://australia.icomos.org/publications/charters/.

Bannerman SM & Hazelton PA 1990. *Soil Landscapes of the Penrith 1:100,000 Map Sheet*, Soil Conservation Service of NSW, Sydney.

Biosis 2019a. *Site 2 – Sydney Olympic Park: Archaeological Report*, Report prepared for Ecove Group. Authors: Keevers-Eastman. A, Gooley. T, Biosis Pty Ltd, Wollongong, NSW. Project no. 28338.

Biosis 2019b. *St Joseph's College Physical Education and Sports Precinct Project: Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment*, Report prepared for Bloompark Consulting Services Pty Ltd on behalf of St Joseph's College. Authors: Allen. C, Vella. A, Bridge. A, Keevers-Eastman. A, Biosis Pty Ltd, Sydney, NSW. Project no. 29211.

Biosis 2019c. *Concord Hospital Redevelopment: Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment*, Report prepared for Health Infrastructure. Biosis Pty Ltd.

Bowdler S 1970., *Bass Point: the excavation of a south eastern Australian shell midden showing cultural and economic change*, BA Honours Thesis, University of Sydney.

Burke H & Smith C 2004. *The Archaeologists Field Handbook*, Allen & Unwin, Crows Nest, NSW.

Casey & Lowe Pty Ltd 2005. Archaeological Investigation: Red Cow Inn & Penrith Plaza Station, Jane & Riley Streets, Penrith, Report for Bovis Lend Lease.

Chapman G, Murphy C, Tille P, Atkinson G, & Morse RJ 1989. *Soil Landscapes of the Sydney 1:100,000 Sheet map*, Department of Environment, Climate Change and Water, Sydney.

DECC NSW 2011. 'Operational Policy: Protecting Aboriginal Cultural Heritage', Department of Environment and Climate Change NSW, Sydney South, NSW. https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/resources/cultureheritage/09122ACHOpPolicy.pdf.

DECCW 2010a. 'Code of Practice for Archaeological Investigation of Aboriginal Objects in NSW', Department of Environment, Climate Change and Water NSW, Sydney, NSW. https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/research-and-publications/publications-search/code-of-practice-for-archaeological-investigation-of-aboriginal-objects-in-nsw.

DECCW 2010b. *Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Consultation Requirements for Proponents*, New South Wales Government Department of Environment and Climate Change., Sydney, NSW.

DPIE 2020. *Hawkesbury Hydrogeological Landscape*, NSW Department of Planning, Industry and Environment, accessed 3 November 2020,

https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/Salis5app/resources/spade/reports/HGL_SYD_1.pdf.



Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. '*Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979*', accessed 4 December 2019, New South Wales Government Department of Planning and Environment. Sydney, NSW. https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/act/1979/203.

Haglund and Associates 2004. The Parramatta Children's Court Site: The preliminary report on testing for Aboriginal Heritage,.

Haglund, L. 1980. *Report on an Archaeological Survey in the City of Blacktown*, National Parks and Wildlife Services.

Irish, P. 2004. 'When Is a Scar a Scar? Evaluating Scarred and Marked Trees at Sydney Olympic Park', *Australian Archaeology*, 59: 59–61.

JMCHM 1997. *Interim Heritage Management Report ADI Site St Marys*, Report prepared for the Lend Lease-ADI Joint Venture. Jo McDonald Cultural Heritage Management Pty Ltd.

JMCHM 2005a. *Archaeological Salvage Excavation of Site CG1 (NPWS #45-5-2648), at the corner of Charles and George Streets, Parramatta, NSW*, Report prepared for Meriton Apartments Pty Ltd. Jo McDonald Cultural Heritage Management Pty Ltd.

JMCHM 2005b. *Archaeological Salvage Excavation of Site RTA-G1 109-113 George Street Parramatta, NSW*, Report prepared for Landcom. Jo McDonald Cultural Heritage Management Pty Ltd.

JMCHM 2008. *Austral Land Mamre Road , Erskine Park Archaeological Salvage Excavations*, Report prepared for Macquarie Goodman. Jo McDonald Cultural Heritage Management Pty Ltd.

KNC 2014. Westconnex M4 Widening from Pitt Street, Parramatta to Homebush Bay Drive, Homebush, Report for Sinclair Knight Merz Pty Ltd.

Kohen, J. 1986., *Prehistoric Settlement in the Western Cumberland Plain:Resources, environment and technology*, Macquarie University.

Lampert R 1971. Burrill Lake and Currarong: Coastal Sites in Southern New South Wales. Terra Australia 1, Department of Prehistory, Research School of Pacific Studies, Australian National University, Canberra.,.

Marquis-Kyle P & Walker M 1994. *The illustrated Burra Charter : making good decisions about the care of important places*, Australia ICOMOS with the assistance of the Australian Heritage Commission, Sydney, NSW.

McDonald, J. & Rich, E. 1993. Archaeological Investigations fro Rouse Hill Infrastructure Project (Stage 1) Works along Cuddies, Smalls and Second Ponds Creek, Rouse Hill and Parklea, NSW. Final Report on Test excavation Programme. Volumes I and II, Report for Rouse Hill Joint Venture.

National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974. '*National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974*', New South Wales Government, Sydney, NSW. Amended October 2023. https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/#/view/act/1977/136.

NPWS 1997. 'Aboriginal Cultural Heritage: Standards and Guidelines Kit',.

NSW Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 2015. *Lucas Heights Soil Information*, Soil and Land Information System.

OEH 2011. 'Guide to Investigating, Assessing and Reporting on Aboriginal Cultural Heritage in NSW', Office of Environment and Heritage, Department of Premier and Cabinet, Sydney NSW.



Pearson M & Sullivan S 1995. *Looking after heritage places: the basics of heritage planning for managers, landowners and administrators*, Melbourne University Press, Carlton, Victoria.

Rhodes J & Dunnett G 1985. *Aboriginal Resources Planning Study: City of Penrith*, National Parks & Wildlife Service, Sydney. NSW.

Ritter DF, Kochel RC, & Miller JR 1995. Process Geomorphology, William C Brown Pub, Pennsylvania, USA.

Rosen S 1995. Heritage Assessment for Nepean Tunnel Amplification Project, Sydney Water.

Smith LJ 1989. Aboriginal site planning study in the Sydney Basin: the Cumberland Plain. Stage 1. Report to NPWS,.

Steele, D. and Carney M. 1997. *Aboriginal Heritage, Australia Avenue, Fig Tree Circuit, 2000 Olympic Site, Homebush, NSW*, The Olympic Co-Ordination Authority.

Strahler A 1952. 'Hypsometric (area-altitude) analysis of erosional topology', *Geological Society of America Bulletin*, 63, 11: 1117–1142.

Urbis 2016. Historical and Aboriginal Archaeological Assessment Report: 2 Figtree Drive, Sydney Olympic Park,.

White B & McDonald J 2010. 'Lithic Artefact Distribution in the Rouse Hill Development Area, Cumberland Plain, New South Wales', *Australian Archaeology*, 70: 29–38.



Appendices



Appendix 1 AHIMS results

THE FOLLOWING APPENDIX IS NOT TO BE MADE PUBLIC.



Extensive search - Site list report

Client Service ID : 905888

<u>SiteID</u>	SiteName	<u>Datum</u>	<u>Zone</u>	Easting	<u>Northing</u>	<u>Context</u>	Site Status **	<u>SiteFeatures</u>	<u>SiteTypes</u>	<u>Reports</u>
45-6-2031	Putney park 1; RYDE 210	GDA	56	324969	6254650	Closed site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Shelter with Midden	102489
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	Mich	ael Guider,A	boriginal Heri	age Office		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2033	Morrisons Bay park; RYDE 214	GDA		325424	6255040	Closed site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Shelter with Midden	102489
	Contact	Recorders	Mich	ael Guider,A	boriginal Herit	age Office		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-1932	Banjo Patterson Park;Looking Glass Bay; RYDE 228	GDA	56	326674	6254060	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -, Shell : -	Midden,Open Camp Site	102489
	Contact	Recorders	i Val A	Attenbrow,M	ichael Guider,A	boriginal Heritage C	Office	Permits		
45-6-1053	Lane Cove River;	GDA	56	326000	6262000	Open site	Valid	Art (Pigment or Engraved) : -	Rock Engraving	98744
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Mr.R	Taplin				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-3137	Putney Park 6 RYDE235	GDA	56	324980	6254620	Open site	Valid	Shell : -		
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	Mr.P	hil Hunt				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-3849	20Waterview Street_TU8	GDA	56	324244	6255463	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -		
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	Curi	o Projects Pt	y Ltd,Mx.Sam (Cooling		<u>Permits</u>	5261	
45-6-1924	Bill Mitchell Park 3; RYDE 216	GDA	56	326034	6254900	Closed site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Shelter with Midden	102489
	Contact	Recorders	Mich	ael Guider,A	boriginal Heri	age Office		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-1925	Bill Mitchell Park 5; RYDE 220	GDA	56	326094	6254660	Open site	Partially Destroyed	Artefact : -, Shell : -	Midden,Open Camp Site	102489,10367 8
	Contact	Recorders	Mich	ael Guider,A	boriginal Herit	age Office		<u>Permits</u>	3812	
45-6-2556	Jetty Road RYDE 213	GDA	56	325164	6255050	Open site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Midden	102142,10248 9
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	Mich	ael Guider,A	boriginal Heri	age Office		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-0567	Abbotsford, Five Dock	AGD		326680	6253270	Open site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -, Burial : -	Burial/s,Midden	1340
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>		d Bell				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2573	Turpentines;	AGD	56	319280	6257620	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	-	ael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2786	Wanngal Woodland PAD1	GDA	56	320840	6254603	Open site	Valid	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : 1		102196
	Contact T Russell	Recorders	Mr.P	aul Irish				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-3169	CABARITA MIDDEN 1	GDA	56	325911	6253734	Open site	Valid	Shell : 1		
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	Ms.D	eborah Fari	na,RPS AAP Co	nsulting Pty Ltd - Yo	rk Street Sydney	Permits		
45-6-3359	Wharf Road Shell Midden 01 (WR-SHL01)	GDA	56	326589	6253882	Open site	Destroyed	Shell : -		
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Arte	fact Heritage	and Environm	ent - Pyrmont,Artefa	act Heritage and E	nvironment - Permits	4313	
45-6-3868	86 Chelmsford Avenue	GDA	56	321244	6260447	Open site	Destroyed	Artefact : -, Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -		

Report generated by AHIMS Web Service on 01/07/2024 for Samantha Keats for the following area at Datum :GDA, Zone : 56, Eastings : 316047.0 - 327047.0, Northings : 6251200.0 - 6262200.0 with a Buffer of 0 meters.. Number of Aboriginal sites and Aboriginal objects found is 102



Extensive search - Site list report

Client Service ID : 905888

<u>SiteID</u>	SiteName	<u>Datum</u>	<u>Zone</u>	<u>Easting</u>	<u>Northing</u>	<u>Context</u>	Site Status **	SiteFeatures	<u>SiteTypes</u>	<u>Reports</u>
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>			-			x Archaeolog Permits		
45-6-2324	Yaralla Bay;Concord West Hospital;	AGD	56	323870	6253890	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -, Shell : -	Midden	
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>		ael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2032	Bennelong park; RYDE 206	GDA	56	324369	6255215	Open site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Midden	102489,10541 9
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>			ominic Steele	Archaeological Cons	0. 0	eritage Offic Permits	4891	
5-6-0031	Ryde;Ryde Bridge; RYDE 204	GDA	56	323754	6255920	Open site	Valid	Art (Pigment or Engraved) : -	Rock Engraving	102489
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>			original Herit	age Office		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2300	Rivendell 2;Concord West;	AGD	56	323990	6253950	Open site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Midden	
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Mich	ael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2313	Subiaco Ck 2;	AGD	56	319690	6256830	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Mich	ael Guider				Permits		
45-6-0534	Charity Point;Meadowbank Park;	GDA	56	322909	6256265	Open site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : 14	Midden,Open Camp Site	1308,2047,102 196,102489
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Val A	ttenbrow,Eli	zabeth Rich,La	aura-Jane Smith,Miss	s.Lisa Smith,Aborig	ginal Heritage <u>Permits</u>		
5-6-0535	Quarantine Park	AGD	56	326210	6252970	Open site	Not a Site	Earth Mound : -	Not an Aboriginal Site	1308,1809
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Val A	ttenbrow,Va	l Attenbrow,La	aura-Jane Smith		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-1904	Looking Glass PT; RYDE 226	GDA	56	326564	6253825	Open site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Midden	102489
	Contact	Recorders	Mich	ael Guider,Al	original Herit	age Office		Permits		
45-6-2554	Elizabeth Farmhouse	AGD	56	316420	6255700	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196,10378 2
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Mich	ael Guider				<u>Permits</u>	2928	
5-6-2557	Waterview Street - RYDE 205	GDA	56	323984	6255730	Open site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Midden	102489
	Contact	Recorders	Mich	ael Guider,Al	original Herit	age Office		Permits		
45-6-2559	Sydney Turf Club Carpark;STC Carpark;	AGD		316900	6256020	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102142,10219 6
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>		ael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2407	Acacia Park;	AGD	56	319270	6258890	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>		ael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2571	Substation;	AGD	56	319520	6258520	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Mich	ael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2578	Collett Park;	AGD	56	316680	6257140	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Mich	ael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2785	Wanngal Woodland PAD2	GDA		321185	6254699	Open site	Valid	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : 1		102196
	<u>Contact</u> T Russell	<u>Recorders</u>	Mr.Pa	aul Irish				Permits		

Report generated by AHIMS Web Service on 01/07/2024 for Samantha Keats for the following area at Datum :GDA, Zone : 56, Eastings : 316047.0 - 327047.0, Northings : 6251200.0 - 6262200.0 with a Buffer of 0 meters.. Number of Aboriginal sites and Aboriginal objects found is 102



Extensive search - Site list report

Client Service ID : 905888

<u>SiteID</u> 45-6-3158	<u>SiteName</u> Robin Thomas Reserve	<u>Datum</u> GDA	<u>Zone</u> 56	<u>Easting</u> 316100	<u>Northing</u> 6256300	<u>Context</u> Open site	<u>Site Status **</u> Partially Destroyed	SiteFeatures Aboriginal Resource and Gathering : -, Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -, Artefact : -	<u>SiteTypes</u>	<u>Reports</u>
	Contact	Recorders	Doct	tor.Jillian Coi	nber,Extent He	eritage Pty Ltd - P	yrmont - Individual u	sers,Extent H Permits	4439,5134,5138	
45-6-4078	Ermington SHL 01	GDA	56	321771	6256298	Open site	Valid	Shell : 1		
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Miss	s.Noni Ross				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-4079	Ermington SHL 02	GDA	56	321720	6256287	Open site	Valid	Shell : 1		
	Contact	Recorders	Miss	s.Noni Ross				Permits		
45-6-4110	Knapping Demonstration (Queens Wharf Reserve)	GDA	56	316305	6256431	Open site	Valid	Aboriginal Resource and Gathering : -		
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Exte	ent Heritage I	Pty Ltd - Pyrmo	ont - Individual us	ers,Miss.Catherine Fe	enech (extent Permits		
45-6-2585	Shrimpton's Creek 2;Macquarie Park (Lane Cove NP); RYDE 006	GDA		326189	6261480	Closed site	Valid	Artefact : -	Shelter with Deposit	98744,102489
	Contact	Recorders			boriginal Heri			<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2683	Wanngal Woodland IF1	AGD		321154	6254823	Open site	Valid	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -		102142,10219 6
45 6 2604	Contact	Recorders	_		tant Archaeolo	0	17-1: -1	Permits Detential		102142 10210
45-6-2684	Wanngal Woodland IF2	AGD	56	321386	6255227	Open site	Valid	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -		102142,10219 6
	Contact	Recorders			tant Archaeolo	ogist		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2939	Balgowlah Cave	GDA	56	318280	6258780	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -		
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Micł	nael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-3151	UWS Rydalmere OS 1	GDA	56	317400	6257004	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -		
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	<u>M</u> r.E	Benjamin Stro	eat			<u>Permits</u>	3800	
45-6-2558	Bremner Park RYDE 215	GDA	56	325689	6255720	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102489
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Micł	nael Guider,A	boriginal Heri	tage Office		Permits		
45-6-1142	Abbotsford;Kangaroo Feet Cave;	AGD	56	326670	6252712	Closed site	Valid	Art (Pigment or Engraved) : -	Shelter with Art	
	Contact	Recorders						<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-1156	Epping;Terrys Creek Cave; RYDE 002	GDA		323544	6261450	Closed site	Valid	Art (Pigment or Engraved) : -	Shelter with Art	102489
	Contact	Recorders	_	• •	riginal Heritage			Permits		
45-6-2339	Haslams Ck 1	AGD	56	319810	6251690	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196
	Contact	Recorders		nael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2344	Duck River 21;Granville South;	GDA	56	316314	6251800	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196



Extensive search - Site list report

Client Service ID : 905888

<u>SiteID</u>	SiteName	<u>Datum</u>	<u>Zone</u>	Easting	<u>Northing</u>	<u>Context</u>	Site Status **	<u>SiteFeatures</u>	<u>SiteTypes</u>	<u>Reports</u>
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Micha	ael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
5-6-2349	Duck River 22;	GDA	56	316414	6251970	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Micha	ael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2321	Glades Bay 3;Gladesville; RYDE 224	GDA	56	326234	6254570	Open site	Valid	Grinding Groove : -	Axe Grinding Groove	102489
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	Micha	ael Guider,Al	ooriginal Herit	age Office		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-3022	Restriction applied. Please contact					Open site	Valid			
	ahims@environment.nsw.gov.au.									
45 6 0050	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders		iginal Herita		0	** 1.1	<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-3050	Charity Point 2 - Ryde 202	GDA		322924	6256250	Open site	Valid	Artefact : 14		
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>		iginal Herita	9			<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-3096	Former Channel 7 site Mobbs Ln	GDA	56	321136	6260245	Open site	Valid	Artefact : 1		
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>		or.Alan Willia				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-4093	CWPS-IF1	GDA	56	318189	6260385	Open site	Destroyed	Artefact : -		
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	AHIM	IS APP Users	,EMM Consult	ing - St Leonards - I	ndividual users,Mis	s.Rohani (en <u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2028	Putney point 4; RYDE 212	GDA	56	325084	6254490	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102489
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Micha	ael Guider,Al	ooriginal Herit	age Office		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2029	Putney park 3; RYDE 208	GDA	56	325049	6254820	Closed site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Shelter with Midden	102489
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Micha	ael Guider,Al	ooriginal Herit	age Office		Permits		
45-6-2030	Putney park 2; RYDE 209	GDA	56	325059	6254730	Closed site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Shelter with Midden	102489
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	Micha	ael Guider,A	ooriginal Herit	age Office		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-1926	Bill Mitchell Park 4; RYDE 219	GDA	56	326074	6254810	Closed site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Shelter with Midden	102489
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Micha	ael Guider,Al	ooriginal Herit	age Office		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-1937	Rocky Point;Concord West;	AGD	56	323910	6254710	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -, Shell : -	Midden,Open Camp Site	
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>		ael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-1961	Ermington 1;	AGD	56	321030	6256060	Open site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Midden	102196
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Micha	ael Guider				Permits		
45-6-2685	Wanngal Woodland IF3	AGD	56	321319	6255192	Open site	Valid	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -		102142,10219 6
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Paul	Irish Consult	ant Archaeolo	gist		Permits		
45-6-3136	Terrys Creek Shelter PAD1	GDA		323515	6261475	Open site	Valid	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -		
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Mr.Pl	nil Hunt				<u>Permits</u>		

Report generated by AHIMS Web Service on 01/07/2024 for Samantha Keats for the following area at Datum :GDA, Zone : 56, Eastings : 316047.0 - 327047.0, Northings : 6251200.0 - 6262200.0 with a Buffer of 0 meters.. Number of Aboriginal sites and Aboriginal objects found is 102



Extensive search - Site list report

Client Service ID : 905888

<u>SiteID</u>	SiteName	<u>Datum</u>	<u>Zone</u>	Easting	<u>Northing</u>	<u>Context</u>	Site Status **	<u>SiteFeatures</u>	<u>SiteTypes</u>	<u>Reports</u>
45-6-4076	PLR2 PAD5 Broadoaks Park	GDA	56	319597	6256236	Open site	Partially Destroyed	Artefact : -, Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -		
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	RPS	AAP Consult	ing Pty Ltd - Pi	tt Street Sydney,RF	PS AAP Consulting P	ty Ltd - Pitt S Permits		
45-6-2309	Ermington PS; RYDE 101	GDA	56	321494	6257820	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196,10248 9
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Mich	nael Guider,A	boriginal Heri	tage Office		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2145	France/Exile Bay, Concord.	AGD	56	325900	6252400	Open site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Midden	1809,1911
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Mr.F	R Taplin				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-1449	Vineyard Creek 1;Telopea;	AGD		318070	6258620	Closed site	Valid	Artefact : -	Shelter with Deposit	1809,102196
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>		Attenbrow,K				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-0609	Glade Bay;Gladesville RYDE 223	GDA		326184	6254570	Open site	Valid	Art (Pigment or Engraved) : -	Rock Engraving	102489
	Contact	Recorders			original Herit	0		Permits		
45-6-1894	Rivendell;	AGD		323800	6254800	Open site	Valid	Art (Pigment or Engraved) : -	Rock Engraving	
	Contact	Recorders		ndell School		2		<u>Permits</u>	0 0 0	100107
45-6-2347	Duck River 19;	GDA		316494	6252800	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196
	Contact	Recorders		nael Guider		. .		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2348	Duck River 20;	GDA		316394	6252500	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	-	nael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-3039	Meadowbank Park Tennis Courts RYDE 203	GDA	56	322539	6256690	Open site	Valid	Grinding Groove : 3		
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>		riginal Herita	-			<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-2584	Shrimptons Creek 1;Macquarie Park (Lane Cove NP); RYDE 005	GDA		326234	6261520	Closed site	Valid	Artefact : -	Shelter with Deposit	98744,102489
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	-		boriginal Heri	0		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-0977	Epping;Lane Cove River; Little bloodwood stump cave RYDE 001	GDA		323964	6262130	Closed site	Valid	Artefact : -	Shelter with Deposit	2047,102489
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>			0	age Office,Mr.Rick l		<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-0991	Gladesville;Ryde 025	GDA		326304	6256780	Open site	Valid	Grinding Groove : -	Axe Grinding Groove	102489
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>		• •	riginal Heritage			<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-3131	River Road West	GDA	56	316650	6256450	Open site	Partially Destroyed	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -, Artefact : -		102338
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>		-			~	ty Ltd - Pyrm Permits	3734,4657,4825	
45-6-2148	Just Definate Cave Boronia Park RYDE 024	GDA		326954	6256540	Closed site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Shelter with Midden	1809,1911,102 489
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Val	Attenbrow,Al	ooriginal Herit	age Office		<u>Permits</u>		

Report generated by AHIMS Web Service on 01/07/2024 for Samantha Keats for the following area at Datum :GDA, Zone : 56, Eastings : 316047.0 - 327047.0, Northings : 6251200.0 - 6262200.0 with a Buffer of 0 meters.. Number of Aboriginal sites and Aboriginal objects found is 102



Extensive search - Site list report

Client Service ID: 905888

<u>SiteID</u>	<u>SiteName</u>	<u>Datum</u>	<u>Zone</u>	Easting	<u>Northing</u>	<u>Context</u>	<u>Site Status **</u>	<u>SiteFeatures</u>	<u>SiteTypes</u>		<u>Reports</u>
45-6-1903	Looking Glass PT; RYDE 227	GDA	56	326589	6253850	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -, Shell :	: - Midden,Ope Site	n Camp	102489
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Michael Guider, Aboriginal Heritage Office					<u>nits</u>			
45-6-1143	Mortdale;Tide Floor Cave;	AGD	56	325932	6253064	Closed site	Valid	Art (Pigment or Engraved) : -	Shelter with	Art	
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	ASR	SYS				Perm			
45-6-1927	Bill Mitchell Park 2; RYDE 217	GDA		326034	6254815	Closed site	Valid	Shell : -, Art (Pign or Engraved) : -	nent Shelter with	Art	102489
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>			boriginal Herit	0		Pern	<u>nits</u>		
45-6-3108	42 Bridge Street Rydalmere PAD	GDA	56	317670	6256778	Open site	Valid	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : 1			
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>		0,	2	lls,Ms.Sally MacLenn		Pern	<u>nits</u>		
45-6-2636	Ermington PAD	AGD	56	320000	6255700	Open site	Not a Site	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -			102142,10219 6
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Mary	y Dallas Cons	ulting Archaeo	logists (MDCA)		<u>Pern</u>	<u>nits</u> 1365		
45-6-2738	James Ruse Reserve Open Camp 1	AGD	56	316000	6256000	Open site	Valid	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -			102196,10378 2
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Jim V	Wheeler				Perm	<u>nits</u> 2018,2187		
45-6-3746	20Waterview St_ISF1	GDA	56	324218	6255521	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -			104349
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Curi	o Projects Pty	v Ltd,Curio Pro	jects Pty Ltd,Mx.Sam	i Cooling,Mx.Sam C	Cooling <u>Perm</u>	<u>nits</u> 4643,5261		
45-6-2312	Subiaco Ck 1;	AGD	56	319790	6256890	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp	Site	102196
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Mich	nael Guider				Pern	<u>nits</u>		
45-6-0532	Cabarita Park 2	GDA	56	325888	6253760	Open site	Partially Destroyed	Shell : -, Artefact :	- Midden		1308,2047
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Val A	Attenbrow,Eli	zabeth Rich,La	ura-Jane Smith,Miss	Lisa Smith,Kellehe	er Nightingal <u>Pern</u>	nits 4276,4371,4	403	
45-6-2545	Putney Park 5;PP 5; RYDE 211	AGD	56	325004	6254510	Open site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact :	- Midden		102489
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Mich	nael Guider,A	boriginal Herit	age Office		Perm	<u>nits</u>		
45-6-2569	Sturt Street	AGD	56	318950	6258300	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp	Site	102196
	Contact	Recorders	Mich	nael Guider				Perm	<u>nits</u>		
45-6-3837	Baludarri Drive PAD	GDA	56	316635	6256597	Open site	Not a Site	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : 1			
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>			ty Ltd - Pyrmo	nt - Individual users,	,Extent Heritage Pt		<u>nits</u> 4657		
45-6-2864	George Kendall Ermington	AGD	56	321020	6255857	Open site	Valid	Shell : -			
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Mr.C	hris Ingrey				<u>Pern</u>	<u>nits</u>		
45-6-3313	PLR AFT 2	GDA	56	316305	6256340	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -			
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	Kelle	her Nighting	ale Consulting	Pty Ltd, Ms. Cristany	Milicich	Perm	nits		

Report generated by AHIMS Web Service on 01/07/2024 for Samantha Keats for the following area at Datum :GDA, Zone : 56, Eastings : 316047.0 - 327047.0, Northings : 6251200.0 - 6262200.0 with a Buffer of 0 meters.. Number of Aboriginal sites and Aboriginal objects found is 102



Extensive search - Site list report

Client Service ID : 905888

<u>SiteID</u>	<u>SiteName</u>	<u>Datum</u>	<u>Zone</u>	Easting	<u>Northing</u>	<u>Context</u>	<u>Site Status **</u>	<u>SiteFeatures</u>	<u>SiteTypes</u>	<u>Reports</u>
45-6-2682	Wanngal Woodland Axe-Marked Tree	AGD	56	321152	6254826	Open site	Not a Site	Modified Tree (Carved or Scarred) -	:	
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	Paul	Irish Consul	tant Archaeolo	5				
45-6-0531	Glades Bay 1, RYDE 222	GDA	56	326159	6254565	Open site	Partially Destroyed	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Midden	1308,1809,102 489,103678
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	Val A	Attenbrow,El	izabeth Rich,La	aura-Jane Smith,Miss	Lisa Smith,Aborig	inal Heritage Permits	<u>s</u> 3812	
45-6-1432	Vineyard Creek 2;Telopea;	AGD		318080	6258620	Closed site	Valid	Artefact : -	Shelter with Deposit	1809,102196
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>		Attenbrow,K				Permits	<u>s</u>	
45-6-2804	Cabarita Park 1	AGD	56	325620	6253620	Open site	Destroyed	Shell : -		
	Contact T Russell	<u>Recorders</u>	Val A	Attenbrow				Permits	5	
45-6-3625	Granville MPC PAD	GDA	56	316175	6254420	Open site	Not a Site	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -		104230
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>		0		nt - Individual users	•		<u>4352</u>	
45-6-3896	PLR George St PAD	GDA	56	316497	6256288	Open site	Valid	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -		
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>	GML	. Heritage Pty	v Ltd - Surry Hi	lls,Doctor.Tim Owen		Permits	<u>s</u> 4900	
45-6-2429	Gladesville Hospital; RYDE 229	GDA	56	326034	6254900	Open site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Midden	102489
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	Marg	grit Koettig,A	boriginal Heri	tage Office		<u>Permits</u>	<u>S</u>	
45-6-1933	Bedlam Point Cave;	GDA		326895	6253874	Closed site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Shelter with Midden	
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>		0	lichael Guider			Permits	5	
45-6-3827	Clyde PAD 01	GDA	56	317121	6254846	Open site	Valid	Potential Archaeological Deposit (PAD) : -, Artefact : -		
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>	GML	. Heritage Pty	v Ltd - Surry Hi	lls,Doctor.Tim Owen	Artefact Heritage	and Environ Permits	<u>S</u>	
45-6-1923	Bill Mitchell Park 1; RYDE 218	GDA		326054	6254830	Closed site	Valid	Art (Pigment or Engraved) : -	Shelter with Art	102489
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>			boriginal Herit	-		Permits		
45-6-2142	Hen & Chicken Bay, Five Dock.;	AGD	56	326200	6251250	Open site	Valid	Shell : -, Artefact : -	Midden	
	Contact	<u>Recorders</u>		R Taplin				Permit	_	
45-6-2570	Kissing Point Rd <u>Contact</u>	AGD <u>Recorders</u>		318820 nael Guider	6258140	Open site	Valid	Artefact : - Permits	Open Camp Site	102196
45-6-2677	Kissing Point Park - RYDE 207	GDA		324324	6255045	Open site	Valid	Artefact : 8		102142,10248 9
	<u>Contact</u>	<u>Recorders</u>			boriginal Herit			Permits		
45-6-2572	McKillop Place;	AGD	56	319140	6259320	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -	Open Camp Site	102196

Report generated by AHIMS Web Service on 01/07/2024 for Samantha Keats for the following area at Datum :GDA, Zone : 56, Eastings : 316047.0 - 327047.0, Northings : 6251200.0 - 6262200.0 with a Buffer of 0 meters.. Number of Aboriginal sites and Aboriginal objects found is 102



Extensive search - Site list report

Client Service ID : 905888

<u>SiteID</u>	SiteName	<u>Datum</u>	<u>Zone</u>	<u>Easting</u>	<u>Northing</u>	<u>Context</u>	Site Status **	<u>SiteFeatures</u>	<u>SiteTypes</u>	<u>Reports</u>
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	Mich	ael Guider				<u>Permits</u>		
45-6-3312	PLR AFT 1	GDA	56	316105	6256465	Open site	Valid	Artefact : -		
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	Kelle	her Nighting	ale Consulting	Pty Ltd,Ms.Cristany	Milicich	Permits		
45-6-4094	QWR PAD 1	GDA	56	316229	6256439	Open site	Valid	Potential		
								Archaeological		
								Deposit (PAD) : -		
	<u>Contact</u>	Recorders	Exter	Extent Heritage Pty Ltd - Pyrmont - Individual users, Miss. Hannah (extent heritage) Permits 5105						

** Site Status

Valid - The site has been recorded and accepted onto the system as valid

Destroyed - The site has been completely impacted or harmed usually as consequence of permit activity but sometimes also after natural events. There is nothing left of the site on the ground but proponents should proceed with caution. Partially Destroyed - The site has been only partially impacted or harmed usually as consequence of permit activity but sometimes also after natural events. There might be parts or sections of the original site still present on the ground Not a site - The site has been originally entered and accepted onto AHIMS as a valid site but after further investigations it was decided it is NOT an aboriginal site. Impact of this type of site does not require permit but Heritage NSW should be notified

Report generated by AHIMS Web Service on 01/07/2024 for Samantha Keats for the following area at Datum :GDA, Zone : 56, Eastings : 316047.0 - 327047.0, Northings : 6251200.0 - 6262200.0 with a Buffer of 0 meters.. Number of Aboriginal sites and Aboriginal objects found is 102



